EXPERIENCE ISKANDAR MALAYSIA
We have created a more holistic and well-balanced lifestyle through economic, social
and environmental sustainability for the generations to come.
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PRODUCING QUALITY ECONOMIC GROWTH

BOLSTERING STAKEHOLDER CONFIDENCE

DRIVING DELIVERY EXCELLENCE

DEVELOPING PEOPLE FOR THE FUTURE

CARING FOR SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENT
SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL REPORT
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sq km

rm

single largest economic
development project
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billion

gross domestic product
projected in 2025

176 1.34

billion

estimated cumulative amount in
investment required over 2013 - 2022

million

workforce in Iskandar Malaysia
by 2025

ISKANDAR MALAYSIA
Malaysia’s economy continued to register commendable growth in 2015,
underpinned by healthy domestic demand. Indeed, thanks to the Government’s
ongoing economic and development transformation programmes, Malaysia retains
its position as one of the most robust regions in the world, with Iskandar Malaysia
leading the way in enhancing Malaysia’s competitiveness on the world stage.
Located on the southernmost tip of Peninsular Malaysia, Iskandar Malaysia
continues to rapidly transform the socioeconomic landscape of Johor, elevating it to
more than just a vibrant and thriving metropolis. At three times the size of
neighbouring Singapore, the 2,217 square-kilometre development conceived on the
solid foundation of Johor’s success story is the single largest development project
initiated by both the Federal and State governments.
Iskandar Malaysia’s strategic thrusts and key directions are guided by the Circle of
Sustainability, a holistic and resilient ecosystem anchored by the interrelated core
elements of wealth generation, wealth sharing and inclusiveness, and resource
optimisation and low carbon. The Circle of Sustainability is built upon the framework
and pillars set out in the Comprehensive Development Plan (CDP) 2006-2025, and
represents our commitment to striking a balance between ecology and economy.
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LOOKING TO THE
FUTURE
Iskandar Malaysia’s gross domestic
product is projected to more than double
from RM52.1 billion in 2013 to RM120.4
billion in 2025, marking an average annual
growth rate of 7.5% in the 2016-2020
period, and 7.7% in the 2021-2025 period.
This performance is premised on the
growth scenario set out in the CDPii 20142025, taking into account also the “most
likely” growth scenario of Johor and the
performance of the economic sectors.
Such ambitious growth targets would
no doubt necessitate the massive
attraction of investment capital. Indeed,
over the 2013-2022 period, an estimated
cumulative amount of RM176 billion in
investments would be required. Human
capital will also need to expand in tandem:
by 2025, the workforce in Iskandar
Malaysia will comprise 1.34 million
workers, with a workforce participation
rate of 70%. The total number of people
in employment will hit 1.31 million, while
the unemployment rate is projected to
stand at 2.6% in 2025. (Source from
Comprehensive Development Plan ii –
Executive Summary).
But it is not just the newly created jobs
that will boost the population of Iskandar
Malaysia. Our vision of creating a dynamic
yet sustainable metropolis with high
living standards will induce people from
all over the world to call Iskandar
Malaysia home. By 2025, we project
Iskandar Malaysia to be the leading
metropolis in Johor, making up almost
70% of the total population of the state.
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SUSTAINABLE METROPOLIS
Iskandar Malaysia is envisioned to be a metropolis that is ahead of its time, where living, entertainment, and business would
seamlessly converge within a vibrant and sustainable environment of international standing. Meticulous planning went into
ensuring the sustainability of the development whilst taking account the direct and indirect needs of its stakeholders.
Being within the Malaysia-Indonesia-Singapore Growth Triangle, Iskandar Malaysia sits on a strategic platform in proximity to
some of the world’s most dynamic economies, which is key to its advancement. Indeed, its location at the confluence of
important East-West trade routes also places it nearby economic powerhouses like China, Japan, and India.
Iskandar Malaysia is easily accessible by land, air, and sea, and offers a standard of living that is comparable to that of more
developed nations in the region, but at a more competitive cost.
Besides being rich in natural resources, Iskandar Malaysia boasts an educated, highly skilled and multi-lingual workforce,
friendly policies, and an environment conducive for business. Such pro-business conditions underscore our unwavering
commitment to creating a vibrant metropolis that promotes sustainable business and living.
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Flagship A

Flagship C

Flagship E

The Cradle of Johor’s Heritage and
Culture / Financial Advisory and
Consulting

The Regional Distribution Centre /
Logistics Related Industries / Oil Storage
Terminals / RAMSAR Heritage Site

Flagship B

Flagship D

The Aviation Gateway to Iskandar
Malaysia / High Tech and Aerospace
Related Industries / Premium Shopping
Destination / Logistics Based Industries
/ Cybercity

The Soul of the Metropolis / State
Administrative Centre / Education and
Medical Institutions / Entertainment
and Recreation / Biotechnology

The Industrial Hub of the Southern
Region / Manufacturing (Electronics,
Petrochemicals, Oleochemicals etc) Oil
Storage Terminals / Education / Ship
Repair Maintenance
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ISKANDAR REGIONAL
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Iskandar Regional Development Authority (IRDA) was
established through the IRDA Act, 2007 in February 2007 as
a statutory body under the Federal Government. It serves as
a regional planning authority for Iskandar Malaysia, and
undertakes investment promotion and facilitation to accelerate
orderly and balanced development in the region.
The Act highlights its functions and responsibilities in
relation to establishing national policies, directions and
strategies for Iskandar Malaysia’s sustainable development.
For instance as per Section 4 of the Act, IRDA has the
mandate of developing Iskandar Malaysia into a strong and
sustainable metropolis of international standing.
IRDA’s strategies and development programmes are guided
principally by the Iskandar Malaysia Holistic Ecosystem and
principles, by which IRDA will manage complex environmental,
economic, and societal issues in an integrated fashion to
develop a resilient region. This view to achieving resilience
will be instrumental in shaping policies and strategies to

IRDA’S CORE
FUNCTIONS
AND PRIMARY
ROLES
CAN BE
SUMMARISED
AS FOLLOWS:

manage the capacity for socio-ecological systems to cope
with, adapt to, and change with economic growth. As such,
IRDA’s management and governance will encompass the
following principles:
1. Resilience, where IRDA will continually change and adapt
to the prevailing challenges in its management of the
region;
2. Adaptability, where IRDA will adjust its responses to its
internal processes and the ever-changing external drivers,
thereby allowing for development along the current
trajectory; and
3. Transformability, where IRDA will develop the capacity to
change and manage new development trajectories.
The effective employment of these principles is imperative for
the timely realisation of Iskandar Malaysia’s vision of becoming a
strong and sustainable metropolis of international standing.

Planning

Facilitation

•

•

Providing consultancy and
information on investment support
in Iskandar Malaysia.

•

Acting as the principal coordinating
agent on behalf of relevant
government agencies for the
processing and expediting of
requisite approvals for investors.

•

Assisting existing investors in the
resolution of issues affecting their
business environment.

•

Integrating and recommending
planning policies of key partners,
Federal and State governments, and
other agencies to advance and
realise the vision of Iskandar
Malaysia.
Identifying and developing strategies
to enhance infrastructure, skills,
science and technology research for
the development of Iskandar
Malaysia.

Promotion
•

Serving as the brand guardian of
Iskandar Malaysia.

•

Promotion of Iskandar Malaysia to
the general public and potential
investors in both local as well as
international markets.

•

Monitoring and aligning sector
developments and required
enablers in line with the Iskandar
Malaysia vision.
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NURTURING
A THRIVING
METROPOLIS

Shared
Values
INTEGRITY
We must always do the right thing ethically and
professionally, regardless of job security or popularity
and without fear of scrutiny.

ENVISION
We must have the foresight to drive the Iskandar
Malaysia vision through exemplary leadership,
innovativeness and pro-activeness whilst being relevant
and sensitive towards our environment and stakeholders.

ENABLE
We must strive to partner and collaborate with all
our stakeholders, especially our investors to facilitate
the accelaration and achievement of desired results
and outcomes.

Vision
To create Iskandar Malaysia as the first
choice to invest, work, live and play.

Mission

ENGAGE
We must be committed in engaging all our
stakeholders with the humility, assertiveness and
intelligence to achieve effective and continuous
communication at all times.

INTERNATIONAL STANDING
We must benchmark against other sustainable
international standing organisations in terms of the
Iskandar Malaysia vision, our mindset, our display of
the right behaviours and the deployment of international
standards best practices.

To develop Iskandar Malaysia into a
strong and sustainable metropolis of
international standing.
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C O-CHAIR ME N ' S S T A T E M E N T

SOARI
HIGHER THROUGH
SUSTAINABLE
YAB Dato' Sri Mohd Najib bin Tun Abdul Razak
Prime Minister of Malaysia
Co-Chairman of IRDA

NG

“one of the fastestgrowing economic
corridors in the
country”
It is always encouraging to hear of progress
in the midst of challenging times and Iskandar
Malaysia, for one, is always a silver lining which
contributes to the nation’s economic growth
despite all odds.
Indeed, Iskandar Malaysia resiliently
overcomes the odds to maintain its position as
one of the fastest growing economic corridors
in the country, whilst ensuring the development
continues to benefit Malaysians from all walks
of life.

DEVELOPMENT
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From 2006 to 31 December 2015, the
region has secured RM190.29 billion
worth of cumulative committed
investments. Of this figure, 52% or
RM98.47 billion represent investments
which have been realised as projects on
the ground.
Such accomplishments are made all
the more significant with the successful
delivery of various socio-economic and
low-carbon initiatives in Iskandar
Malaysia. Certainly, aside from purely
economic investments, there has been
heavy emphasis on developing human
capital, creating new and improved
lifestyle environments, as well as
providing business and employment
opportunities for the local community.
The creation of this inclusive and
sustainable development for the rakyat
is a reflection of our national agenda to
steer Malaysia towards achieving highincome-nation status come year 2020.
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The Federal Government, in this
respect, is ever supportive of efforts
that can significantly elevate the
people’s quality of life. The sterling
contributions of Iskandar Malaysia
in this area are not a product
of chance, but rather the outcome
of a meticulously designed
strategy contained within the
Iskandar Malaysia Comprehensive
Development Plan (CDP) that was
launched in 2006.
A review of this plan started back
in 2013, and I am pleased that the
enhanced version, known as the
Iskandar Malaysia Comprehensive
Development Plan ii 2014 - 2025
(CDPii), is very much in line with
the New Economic Model which is
anchored by the Government
Transformation Plan and the
Economic Transformation Plan.

I understand that CDPii
measures have begun to be rolled
out by IRDA and its stakeholders,
and many of these commendably
feature a pro-environmental stance
to help create a low carbon society
in Iskandar Malaysia.
I am also pleased to note that in
2015, Iskandar Malaysia represented
the Asia Pacific region at the 21st
Conference of the Parties (COP21) in
Paris. The Paris edition of this
annual conference was Iskandar
Malaysia’s sixth involvement. IRDA
attended the event for two main
purposes which was to launch the
Low Carbon Society Action Plans for
the five local authorities within the
Iskandar Malaysia region as well as
to receive recognition as one of the
cities and regions under the
Sustainable Energy For All (SE4ALL)
initiative of the United Nations.

Aerial view of Johor Bahru cityscape

Senibong Cove

I AM ALSO PLEASED TO NOTE THAT
IN 2015, ISKANDAR MALAYSIA
REPRESENTED THE ASIA PACIFIC
REGION AT THE 21ST CONFERENCE OF
THE PARTIES (COP21) IN PARIS
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METROPOLIS OF
INTERNATIONAL
STANDING
ISKANDAR MALAYSIA WAS INVITED AS
ONE OF THE 10 PARTNERING CITIES
OR REGIONS FOR THE GLOBAL ENERGY
EFFICIENCY ACCELERATOR PLATFORM
(GEEAP), A FLAGSHIP PROGRAMME
UNDER SE4ALL
During the event, IRDA officially
became partners to the SE4ALL
acceleration platforms that has been
declared in Paris COP21 under the
Lima-Paris Action Agenda. This was a
follow through of a milestone the year
before, when Iskandar Malaysia was
invited as one of the 10 partnering cities
or regions for the Global Energy
Efficiency Accelerator Platform (GEEAP),
a flagship programme for SE4ALL.
The partnership is aimed at
developing a plan of action and
building local capacity to accelerate
energy efficiency investment and
improvements in the areas such as
Iskandar Malaysia. The inclusion of
Iskandar Malaysia as a partner to the

acceleration programmes is testament
of IRDA’s unwavering commitment to
making Iskandar Malaysia a strong and
sustainable metropolis of international
standing. The initiatives to be undertaken
will support Malaysia’s target to reduce
carbon intensity by 40%.
It is heartening that Iskandar Malaysia
will be celebrating its 10th anniversary in
November 2016, and is presently well on
track to realising its long-term goals. I
am optimistic that this development will
continue to attract steady inflows of
investments as more projects come onstream that will be advantageous to the
local community.

I believe that a strong part of IRDA’s
ethos lies in making Iskandar Malaysia
competitive not just domestically, but
also in the Southeast Asian region and,
indeed – the world over. As we have said
many times before, we want Iskandar
Malaysia to be the destination of choice
for people, to live, work and play.
As Pr i me M i n i ster and IRDA
Co-Chairman, I hereby reiterate the
Federal Government’s steadfast
commitment to seeing Iskandar Malaysia
through in totality. To realise this
outcome, we are determined to work
closely with our fellow stakeholders,
such as the state and local governments
of Johor, as well as the private sector
and community leaders.

YAB Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib bin Tun Abdul Razak
Prime Minister of Malaysia
Co-Chairman of IRDA
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CO-CHAIRMEN'S STATEME NT

YAB Dato' Mohamed Khaled bin Nordin
Menteri Besar of Johor
Co-Chairman of IRDA
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The beauty of Iskandar Malaysia’s
development lies in the fact that it does
not only focus on physical and economic
development, but, as outlined in our
CDPii, it is well-rounded with rightful
emphasis also placed on social
inclusiveness, optimisation of resources,
and environmental management.
Certainly, when it comes to the
rakyat’s welfare, we make no
compromises: all our developments
must and shall provide multiple and
equitable benefits to the people and
communities at the grassroots level.
From the beginning, way back in 2006,
though our economic successes made
frequent news headlines, the social
agenda underpinning our development
plans was firmly in place. Indeed, this
social orientation is the linchpin that
holds our master plan together, ensuring
the community grows with us every step
of the way.

WE MAKE NO
COMPROMISES: ALL OUR
DEVELOPMENTS MUST
AND SHALL PROVIDE
MULTIPLE AND EQUITABLE
BENEFITS TO THE PEOPLE
AND COMMUNITIES AT THE
GRASSROOTS LEVEL

In furthering our efforts to create a
more inclusive Iskandar Malaysia,

KAWAN
ISKANDAR
MALAYSIA (KIM)
is another noteworthy project
that is community-empowered
and helps targeted groups move
up the economic value chain
through social enterprises.
This project has been extremely
successful, and in the year ahead
we will be launching a slew of
programmes held in conjunction
with the KIM project.
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Launching of imCoop

several key projects have been successfully delivered. These include the launch of the
Iskandar Malaysia Co-operative (imCoop) and with it, a chain of fair-priced convenience
stores.
Kawan Iskandar Malaysia (KIM) is another noteworthy project that is community-empowered
and helps targeted groups move up the economic value chain through social enterprises.
This project has been extremely successful, and in the year ahead we will be launching a
slew of programmes held in conjunction with the KIM project.
In 2016, we will implement more programmes listed in our CDPii to enhance the welfare
of our rakyat. One of such programmes is our Urban Farming Initiative (IMURFARM), which
will help urban dwellers in our vicinity increase their income levels to fend off ever-rising
living costs.
Efforts will also be made for mainstream wealth-sharing through spatial planning and
development to achieve a resilient and inclusive society in Iskandar Malaysia.
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The strategies laid out in our CDPii
are in full complementarity with Johor’s
strategic plans, looking after the welfare
and raising the socio-economic standing
of the people of Johor, in line with the
rapid development and modernisation
that we currently enjoy.
As a tangible expression of our
commitment to developing Iskandar
Malaysia in a sustainable manner, we
launched the Low Carbon Society (LCS)
Action Plans for the five Local Authorities
in Iskandar Malaysia in 2015. These
Action Plans empower local authorities
to undertake climate resilient growth
initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions at a local level. The Action
Plans work hand in glove with the
Iskandar Malaysia Low Carbon Society
Blueprint that covers the regional level.
On the economic front, Iskandar
Malaysia continues to receive investment
from home and abroad, and has notably
recorded an impressive total cumulative
committed investment of RM32.16 billion
in the January-December 2015 period,
surpassing our target with a RM5.39
billion increase in committed investment
from 2014.

This accomplishment is testament to
the close cooperation and backing from
all strategic players in Iskandar
Malaysia, the Federal and State
governments, as well as the rakyat.
Such valued support is crucial as we
surge onward towards the full realisation
of Iskandar Malaysia’s vision.
Certainly, the achievements we had
garnered thus far heading into our 10th
anniversary next year provide just a
small glimpse into the future of
Iskandar Malaysia. Be prepared for
more good things headed your way as
we continue to deliver results that
positively impact the society here, and
in Malaysia as a whole.

YAB Dato’ Mohamed Khaled bin Nordin
Menteri Besar of Johor
Co-Chairman of IRDA

Kawan Iskandar Malaysia (KIM) launch at Kampung Sungai Melayu
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Urban Farming
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT

I AM PLEASED TO
ANNOUNCE THAT ISKANDAR
MALAYSIA HAS RECORDED
A TOTAL CUMULATIVE
COMMITTED INVESTMENT
OF RM32.16 BILLION
FROM JANUARY 2015 TO
DECEMBER 2015.
These investments, as before, stand to benefit the
rakyat of Johor and Malaysia as a whole through the
creation of business opportunities for entrepreneurs and
SMEs as well as quality jobs for the working population.

“DELIVERING ISKANDAR
MALAYSIA TO THE PEOPLE

THROUGH THE CDPii”
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Indeed, from 2007 to 2015, a total of
682,169 jobs have been created with
most of these originating from the
various sectors in Iskandar Malaysia,
including manufacturing, hospitality,
food & beverage, and education. This is
a tangible testimony of our commitment
in supporting the domestic labour
market through our efforts to develop
Iskandar Malaysia into a strong and
sustainable metropolis of international
repute.
At this juncture, I am also pleased
that IRDA’s significant contributions in
advancing the nation’s Technical &
Vocational Education & Training (TVET)
agenda has won IRDA recognition from
the Ministry of Education (MOE) for
being the best economic corridor partner
in 2015.

32.16

RM
BILLION
OF TOTAL
CUMULATIVE
INVESTMENTS

YBhg Datuk Ismail bin Ibrahim
Chief Executive of IRDA

Sunset view of Kota Iskandar

The MOE’s recognition of our efforts will spur us to intensify
our human capital and talent management efforts through
our upskilling and reskilling programmes as well as
contractor workshops to ensure a ready pool of talent for
tapping when economic conditions call for it.
As we move closer to the second half of 2016, we look
forward to meeting more milestones through the rolling out
of the plans in our CDPii, which lays down strategies for the
next decade of Iskandar Malaysia’s journey.
The long and short of this master plan is that while
generating economic growth through economic activities
remains imperative, resources and emphasis will be placed
on social needs for wealth-sharing and environmental
preservation.
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WE REMAIN
COGNISANT OF OUR
RESPONSIBILITY
TO CONTRIBUTE
MEANINGFULLY TO
THE WELFARE OF
THE PEOPLE OF
ISKANDAR MALAYSIA
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Indeed, in all our plans and actions,
we remain cognisant of our responsibility
to contribute meaningfully to the welfare
of the people of Iskandar Malaysia. We
actively engage in activities that
stimulate the rakyat to participate in the
development of Iskandar Malaysia, and
at the same time support projects that
can generate employment opportunities
for more sections of the population.
We will also continue to tighten our
collaborations with other agencies and
local investors in our effort to intensify
development across the nine promoted
economic sectors in Iskandar Malaysia.
Certainly, the success hitherto of Iskandar
Malaysia has been due to the excellent
working relationship between the Federal
and State Governments. We are also
grateful for the support from the private
sector and community at large.

Perhaps the most anticipated affair in
our calendar for next year is our 10th
anniversary in November that presents
the halfway mark of our development
journey. While there is still much to do,
we endeavour to continue serving our
stakeholders and the community to the
best of our ability through closer ties
and deeper, more frequent engagements.
Our focus is clear: to deliver Iskandar
Malaysia to and for the people of
Iskandar Malaysia.
Indeed, though we are presently
facing some economic uncertainty, you
can be certain of one thing: the rakyat
remains our key priority for whom we
will progressively deliver results and
surpass expectations.

HOLISTIC
AND WELLBALANCED
DEVELOPMENT

As we continue to leverage on our
strength in the promoted economic
sectors, we will take pains to ensure
that the community has a share of the
wealth created from these economic
activities through community
inclusiveness programmes. Our
development efforts will also be
environmentally friendly in order to
make Iskandar Malaysia a greener home
for generations to come.

YBhg Datuk Ismail bin Ibrahim
Chief Executive of IRDA

Senibong Cove
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MEMBERS OF THE AUTHORITY PROFILES
THE AUTHORITY CONSISTS
OF THE FOLLOWING
MEMBERS:
The Co-Chairmen:
• The Prime Minister of Malaysia
• The Menteri Besar of Johor
Two representatives from the Federal
Government:
• The Secretary-General of Treasury
• The Director-General of Economic
Planning Unit
Two representatives from the Johor
State Government:
• The State Secretary of Johor
• The Director of the State Economic
Planning Unit
Two other members are appointed by
the Prime Minister with the concurrence
of the Menteri Besar of Johor, who, in
the opinion of the Prime Minister, have
the experience and shown capacity and
professionalism in matters relating to
banking, finance, planning, local
government, commerce, business or
administration, or to be otherwise
suitable for appointment because of
their special knowledge, experience or
academic qualifications, one of whom
shall be from the private banking,
finance or commerce sector.
The primary responsibilities of the
Members of Authority include but are not
limited to the setting of strategies,
directions and policies relating to the
development within Iskandar Malaysia and
other functions in connection therewith.
The Members of Authority are assisted
by an Executive Committee (EXCO),
which comprises nine members
appointed by the Members of Authority.
IRDA’s day-to-day administration is
entrusted to the Chief Executive, who is
also the Secretary to the Authority.

1

1.

YAB DATO’ SRI MOHD NAJIB BIN
TUN ABDUL RAZAK
Prime Minister of Malaysia/
Co-Chairman

Prior to his premiership, YAB Dato’ Sri
Mohd Najib bin Tun Abdul Razak was the
Deputy Prime Minister of Malaysia from
2004 to 2009. He had also twice headed
the defence portfolio as Minister from
1990 to 1995 and from 1999 to 2008.
His other cabinet ministerial posts
include Minister of Education (19951999), Minister of Youth and Sports
(1987-1990) and Minister of Culture,
Youth and Sports (1986-1987).
Prior to serving as Chief Minister of
Pahang from 1982 to 1986, YAB Dato’
Sri Najib was the Deputy Minister of
Finance (1981-1982), Deputy Minister of
Education (1980-1981), and Deputy
Minister of Energy, Telecommunications
and Posts (1978-1980).
He obtained his tertiary education from
the University of Nottingham in the United
Kingdom, where he graduated with a
degree in Industrial Economics in 1974.

2

2.

YAB DATO’ MOHAMED KHALED
BIN NORDIN
Menteri Besar of Johor/
Co-Chairman

YAB Dato’ Mohamed Khaled bin
Nordin is the Menteri Besar of Johor.
Upon completion of his law degree at
the University of Malaya, he joined
PETRONAS’ Department of Law before
being named Political Secretary to the
Federal Territories Minister in 1983 for
four years, after which he joined the
legal and business world.
However, YAB Dato’ Mohamed Khaled
remained politically active. Starting as
Johor Bahru UMNO Youth Chief, he was
promoted to UMNO Division Chief in
1995. At the central division, he held the
UMNO Youth EXCO post from 1993 to
2000.
His career as a Member of Parliament
(MP) began in 1990 with his winning of the
Johor Bahru parliamentary seat, which he
held for three successive terms before
securing the Pasir Gudang parliamentary
seat in 2004 for two terms. He was also
the UMNO Chief of Pasir Gudang following
the revision of constituencies.

In 2015, the Members of Authority met
twice, in July and December.
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3

4

5

5.
His stint at the federal level
commenced with the Deputy Minister of
Public Works position in 1999. In 2004,
he was appointed Minister of
Entrepreneur and Cooperative
Development, and became the Minister
of Higher Education after the 12th
General Elections.

A holder of PhD in Economics from the
International Islamic University of Malaysia
and Masters of Science in Energy
Management and Policy from the University
of Pennsylvania, USA, he earned his
Bachelor of Arts (Hons) degree in
Demography from the University of Malaya.

4.
3.

YBHG TAN SRI DR. MOHD IRWAN
SERIGAR BIN ABDULLAH
Secretary-General of Treasury in
Ministry of Finance

YBhg Tan Sri Dr. Mohd Irwan Serigar
bin Abdullah is the current SecretaryGeneral of Treasury in the Ministry of
Finance. His career in the public sector
began when he joined the Economic
Planning Unit of the Prime Minister’s
Department in 1984, where he served in
the areas of urban development, energy,
and privatisation.
He subsequently joined the Ministry of
Finance in 2003, where he held various
positions in the Economic Division and
thereafter as Section Head, Deputy
Secretary, and Secretary of the Economic
Analysis and International Division
(Macro Economy). After his stint as
Deputy Secretary-General (Policy) from
2010 to 2012, he was named SecretaryGeneral of Treasury.
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YBHG DATUK SERI DR. RAHAMAT
BIVI BINTI YUSOFF
Director-General of Economic
Planning Unit in the Prime
Minister’s Department

YBhg Datuk Seri Dr. Rahamat Bivi
binti Yusoff is the current DirectorGeneral of the Economic Planning Unit.
An active contributor in the Malaysian
civil service for over three decades, she
held the Deputy Secretary-General
(System & Control) post in the Ministry
of Finance prior to her present
appointment that commenced in 2011.
A holder of a Doctorate in Economics
from the Australian National University,
she earned her Masters in Economics
from the University of Western
Michigan, USA.

YB DATO' HAJI ISMAIL BIN KARIM
State Secretary of Johor

YB Dato’ Haji Ismail bin Karim is the
State Secretary of Johor. His career in
the civil service began at the Land Office
of Johor Bahru in 1982, after which he
was posted to Segamat as Assistant
Administrator of Land from 1987 to
1991. He was then appointed Secretary
of the South Segamat District Council in
Labis in 1992.
In 1996, he was elected as Assistant
Chief Director 1 of Johor Bahru City Hall
before taking up the post of Chief Assistant
Director of the Economic Planning Unit of
Johor from 1998 until 2000.
In 2001, he received the appointment
of Assistant District Officer of Johor
Bahru and later became the Chief
Assistant Secretary to the State Secretary
of Johor until 2004. Thereafter, he took
on the role of Assistant Director of the
Johor Religious Department until 2006,
and became the Datuk Bandar of Johor
Bahru City Hall in 2013 until his State
Secretary appointment.
YB Dato’ Haji Ismail holds a Bachelor
of Social Science (Hons) from Universiti
Kebangsaan Malaysia.
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6.

TUAN HAJI A. RAHIM BIN HAJI NIN
Director of Johor State Economic
Planning Unit (Until August 2015)
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7.

TUAN HAJI SALEHUDDIN BIN
HASSAN
Director of State Johor Economic
Planning Unit (Since August 2015)

Tuan Haji A. Rahim bin Haji Nin
commenced his career in public service
when he was appointed Assistant
Secretary to the Ministry of Primary
Industries in 1986, before becoming the
Assistant Land Officer in Batu Pahat in
1989 for seven years.

Prior to his appointment as Director
of UPENJ, Tuan Haji Salehuddin bin
Hassan was the President of Johor
Bahru Municipal Council, since June
2013.

He subsequently took on the roles of
Secretary at the South Segamat District
Council in Labis, and Assistant District
Officer at the District and Land Office in
Pengerang.

He began his career in April 1992 as
Assistant District Officer at the District
and Land Office in Segamat. He
continued his career at Land Office in
Mersing in January 2000 and was later
appointed as Assistant Director at Land
and Mines Office, Johor in July 2001.

In 2003, he was appointed Secretary
of the Kulai District Council before
becoming Assistant Director 2 at the
Land and Mines Office in Johor. He also
had Land Administrator stints at the
Land Offices of Batu Pahat and Johor
Bahru. Prior to becoming the District
Officer of Segamat from 2011 to 2014,
Tuan Haji A. Rahim was the Yang
DiPertua at the Pasir Gudang Municipal
Council from 2009 until 2011.

He then held the position of Assistant
Secretary 1 (Human Resource Division)
in January 2004, before he was appointed
as Secretary of Johor Bahru Municipal
Council in January 2005.
In February 2007, he took up the
position of Principal Assistant Secretary
at Johor Secretary Branch Office of the
local government for two years.

He earned his Bachelor of Arts in
Economics (Hons) from Universiti
Kebangsaan Malaysia.
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Tuan Haji Salehuddin became the
President of Batu Pahat Municipal
Council in March 2009 and further
appointed as Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) of Yayasan Pembangunan
Keluarga Darul Ta’zim in June 2011.
Tuan Haji Salehuddin holds a Bachelor
of Business Management (Hons) from
Universiti Utara Malaysia.

8.

YBHG TAN SRI DATO’ LIEW KEE SIN
Chairman of Eco World
Development Group

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Liew Kee Sin
began his career as a banker in a local
merchant bank in 1981 for five years,
after which he joined a property
development company, which inspired
him to set up his own firm called
Syarikat Kemajuan Jerai Sdn Bhd to
develop Bukit Indah Ampang.
In 1996, he was appointed Group
Managing Director of SP Setia Berhad
following the acquisition of Syarikat
Kemajuan Jerai. He was instrumental in
transferring the listing status of SP
Setia from the Second Board to the
Main Board of the Kuala Lumpur Stock
Exchange (now Bursa Malaysia).
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Since then, he has spearheaded
various innovative projects that drove
the Group’s profitability to new heights.
He is now Chairman of Eco World
Development Group.
YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Liew is a holder of
a Bachelor of Economics (Business
Administration) degree from the
University of Malaya.

9.

YBHG TAN SRI DATO’ SERI UTAMA
NOR MOHAMED BIN YAKCOP
Deputy Chairman of Khazanah
Nasional Berhad

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Utama Nor
Mohamed bin Yakcop spent a significant
part of his working life with Bank Negara
Malaysia, where he served from 1968 to
2000 overseeing the implementation of
major projects like Islamic banking in
Malaysia, the bilateral payments
mechanism between Bank Negara
Malaysia and the central banks of SouthSouth countries, and Rating Agency
Malaysia Berhad.
He was subsequently appointed
Director of Khazanah Nasional Berhad
from 2002 and made Deputy Chairman
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in 2013. He is also the Chairman of the
Khazanah Research Institute and was
previously the Special Economic Adviser
to the Prime Minister, and a Minister in
the Prime Minister’s Department after
serving as the Second Finance Minister
until 2009.
He earned his Bachelor of Economics
(Hons) qualification from the University
of Malaya and holds MBA (cum laude)
degree from the Catholic University of
Leuven, Belgium.

10. YBHG DATUK ISMAIL BIN
IBRAHIM
IRDA Chief Executive/Secretary
Muar-born YBhg Datuk Ismail bin
Ibrahim started his career in the civil
service in 1983 as a town-planning officer
attached to the Federal Department of
Town and Country Planning in the Ministry
of Housing and Local Government.
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was seconded to Khazanah Nasional
Berhad as Senior Vice President of
Special Projects to oversee the planning
of the southern economic region in
Johor (known as Iskandar Malaysia
today).
In 2009, he moved to Kuala Lumpur to
assume the role of Director of the
Physical Planning Division in the Town
and Country Planning Department
headquarters in the capital city. He also
served as Secretariat to the National
Physical Planning Council chaired by the
Prime Minister, before becoming IRDA
Chief Executive in 2010.
YBhg Datuk Ismail was educated at
Malay College Kuala Kangsar before
studying town planning at the HeriotWatt University in Edinburgh, Scotland.
He is registered with the Board of Town
Planners Malaysia.

In 1990, he was awarded the British
Council Fellowship to specialise in
Planning Law in Newcastle University,
England. He was later appointed Penang
State Town and Country Planning
Director in 2003. Three years later, he
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1.

YABHG TUN MUSA BIN HITAM

Tun Musa Hitam, who is currently
Chairman of the World Islamic Economic
Forum (WIEF) Foundation was Malaysia’s
Deputy Prime Minister until 1986. In the
course of his service in the Malaysian
government, he held various positions
including Minister of Home Affairs,
Education, Primary Industries and Trade
and Industries and Chairman of the
Federal Land Development Authority
(FELDA). Among his major official
activities were as Leader of Malaysian
Investment Missions to Europe, USA and
Japan and representing Malaysia at UN
ECOSOC related negotiating and regular
conferences.
Since Tun Musa’s retirement from
politics in 1987, he held Chairmanships
of 3 Public Listed Companies and
various business related institutions
both at domestic and international
levels. He was Chairman of the Malaysia
– China Business Council, Co-Chair of
the Eminent Persons Group (EPG) of the
Asean – China, 15 year economic
cooperation program and Chairman of
the EPG to draft the Asean Charter.
Currently, Tun Musa is Chairman of the
Sime Darby Foundation, Chairman of the
International Advisory Panel of CIMB
Bank, Chairman of the International
Selection Panel of the Royal Award on
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Islamic Finance and member of the
Advisory Panel of the Iskandar
Development Authority.
Tun Musa holds a BA (University of
Malaya) and MA (University of Sussex)
and held a resident Fellowship at
Harvard University. For his services to
the nation, The Yang Di Pertuan Agong
(King) of Malaysia conferred him
Malaysia highest award which carries
the title “Tun”.

2.

3

Tan Sri Samsudin was the Chairman of
Universiti Utara Malaysia from 2006 to
2016, National Unity Consultative Council
from 2013 to 2015, the President of
Perbadanan Putrajaya from 2004 to July
2012 and Chief Secretary to the Malaysian
Government from 2001 to 2006. He
served as the Secretary General for two
(2) ministries, the Ministry of Domestic
Trade and Consumer Affairs (1994) and
the Ministry of Home Affairs (1996). Tan
Sri Samsudin was the Acting Chairman
of Sime Darby Berhad from 8 November
2012 to 1 July 2013.

YBHG TAN SRI SAMSUDIN BIN
OSMAN
3.

Tan Sri Samsudin holds a Bachelor of
Arts (Honours) degree and a Diploma in
Public Administration from the University
of Malaya, and a Master in Public
Administration from Pennsylvania State
University, United States of America.
Tan Sri Samsudin is currently the
Chairman of the Employees Provident
Fund (EPF) Board, EPF Investment Panel,
BIMB Holdings Berhad, Sime Darby
Industrial Holdings Sdn Bhd, Board of
Trustees of the Mahathir Science Award
Foundation and several other private
limited companies. Tan Sri Samsudin is
also the Pro Chancellor of Universiti
Malaysia Terengganu and Chancellor of
University College Bestari.
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YBHG TAN SRI KISHU TIRATHRAI

YBhg Tan Sri Kishu Tirathrai is
currently a Court Fellow with the
Malaysian Institute of Management,
Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of
Directors, Advisory Council Member to
the Corporate Malaysia Roundtable and
a member of the Malaysia-British Panel
Roundtable.
He has served as Director of Bank
Negara Malaysia, the National
Productivity Corporation and the
Malaysian Industry Government Group
for High Technology. He was the
Founding Chairman of the Malaysian
External Trade Development Corporation
(MATRADE) and an Exco Member of the
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Malaysian Crime Prevention Foundation.
He has also served as a Director of the
Malaysian Industrial Development
Corporation (MIDF). Sampoerna Holdings
Bhd and the KL City ASMIC Unit Trust
Management Bhd.
YBhg Tan Sri holds a Masters in
Business Administration (Hons) from the
University of Bath, United Kingdom.

5

and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
from 1998-2005, having previously been a
central banker with the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority and Bank Negara
Malaysia. He also worked with the World
Bank from 1989-1993. From 2003-2005.
he chaired the Technical Committee
of the International Organisation of
Securities Commissions (IOSCO).

5.
4.

YBHG TAN SRI ANDREW SHENG
LEN TAO

YBhg Tan Sri Andrew is presently the
Chief Adviser to the China Banking
Regulatory Commission and a Board
Member of Khazanah Nasional Berhad.
He currently serves as a member of
the International Advisory Council of the
China Investment Corporation, the China
Development Bank, the Advisory Council
of Shanghai as an International Financial
Centre and the International Council of
the Freie University, Berlin. He is also
an Adjunct Professor at the Graduate
School of Economics and Management,
Tsinghua University. Beijing and the
University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.
In 2009, he became the Pro-Chancellor
of Universiti Tun Abdul Razak. YBhg Tan
Sri served as Chairman of the Securities
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MR. ROBERT KUOK HOCK NIEN

Mr. Robert Kuok is the Chairman of
Kerry Group Ltd. He retired from most
of his businesses in 2000.
The Kuok Group of Companies is active
in commodity trading development of
sugar and palm-oil plantations, property
development including hotels as well as
management, logistics, shipping,
insurance and general investments.
The Group consists of a few private
companies and a number of public-listed
companies in Malaysia, Singapore Hong
Kong, China, Thailand and the Philippines.
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6.

YB TAN SRI SHAHRIR BIN ABDUL
SAMAD

YB Tan Sri Shahrir bin Abdul Samad
was appointed to the Advisory Council
on 1 January 2014.
YB Tan Sri was the Parliamentary
Secretary at the Office of the Prime
Minister from 1978-1979. He holds the
position of Deputy Minister of Treasury
from 1980-1981, Deputy Minister of
International Trade and Industry from
1982-1983. In 1983, he held the position
of Minister of Federal Territories before
he was appointed as the Minister of
Welfare Department in 1985.
In addition to government positions.
YB Tan Sri actively participated in
activities of Parliament including
international duties as the EXCO Member
of the Commonwealth Parliamentary
Association (CPA). He went on to become
the President of the association. He is
also the Chairman of Barisan Nasional
Backbenchers Club (BNBBC). YB Tan Sri
was the Chairman of the Malaysian
Palm Oil Board (MPOB).
YB Tan Sri holds a BSc in Statistics
from University of Malaya and Master of
Business Administration (MBA) from
IMD Business School, Switzerland.
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E XE C U TI VE C OM M I TTEE

The Executive Committee (EXCO) was formed in
2008 to strengthen the Authority’s performance
by helping it function productively. It has a
responsibility for approaching operational
decisions which would normally be under the
purview of the Authority.
In 2015, the EXCO met once, in March.

MEMBERS
YBhg Tan Sri Dr. Mohd Irwan Serigar bin Abdullah
Secretary General of the Treasury in the Ministry of
Finance

CHAIRMAN
YAB Dato' Mohamed Khaled bin Nordin
Menteri Besar of Johor

YBhg Datuk Seri Dr. Rahamat Bivi binti Yusoff
Director General of the Economic Planning Unit in the
Prime Minister’s Department
YBhg Dato’ Ahmad Husni bin Hussain
Director General of the Public-Private Partnership Unit
in the Prime Minister’s Department
YB Dato' Haji Ismail bin Karim
State Secretary of Johor
YB Datuk Abdul Latif bin Bandi
EXCO, Housing, Local Government, Work and Public
Amenities of Johor
YBhg Datuk Hisham bin Hamdan
Executive Director, Investments of Khazanah Nasional
Berhad
YBhg Datuk Ismail bin Ibrahim
Chief Executive of IRDA
YBhg Dato’ Benjamin bin Haji Hasbie
Federal Commissioner of IRDA
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AP P R OVALS & IMPL E ME NT AT ION CO MM IT T E E

The Approvals and Implementation Committee (AIC) is chaired
by the Menteri Besar of Johor, with members comprising
representatives from federal and state agencies.
•

Identifying proposed major or strategic
developments and investments in the
Iskandar Development Region;

•

Monitoring the status of all approvals
in relation to such proposed major
or strategic developments and
investments;

•

Under
Section
30(4) of the
IRDA Act,
the AIC is
responsible
for:

•

•

•

Coordinating the roles and activities
of all relevant government entities
to expedite the implementation of
such proposed major or strategic
developments and investments;
Identifying any difficulties or issues
arising during the implementation of
such proposed major or strategic
developments and investments, and
taking or recommending appropriate
steps and administrative actions to
resolve such difficulties or issues;
Reporting the status of the
implementation of such proposed
major or strategic developments and
investments to the Authority; and
Performing any other functions or
duties delegated to it by the Authority.

In 2015, the AIC met twice, in April and
August.

CHAIRMAN
YAB Dato’ Mohamed Khaled bin Nordin
Menteri Besar of Johor

MEMBERS
•

Chief Executive of IRDA

•

Senior Representative – Ministry of Finance

•

Senior Representative – Companies Commission of
Malaysia

•
•

Senior Representative – Ministry of Home Affairs
Senior Representative – Ministry of International Trade &
Industry

•

Senior Representative – Ministry of Natural Resources &
Environment

•

Senior Representative – Ministry of Works

•

Senior Representative – Malaysian Investment Development
Authority

•

Senior Representative – Economic Planning Unit, Prime
Minister’s Department

•

Senior Representative – Public-Private Partnership Unit
(UKAS), Prime Minister’s Department

•

Senior Representative – State Economic Planning Unit of
Johor

•
•

State Director – Land and Mines Department of Johor
State Director – Town and Country Planning Department of
Johor

•

IRDA Federal Commissioner

•

IRDA State Commissioner

•
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Presidents of all local councils in Iskandar Malaysia
–

Mayor of Johor Bahru City Council

–

President of Johor Bahru Tengah Municipal Council

–

President of Pasir Gudang Municipal Council

–

President of Kulai Municipal Council

–

President of Pontian District Council
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2

1.

DATUK ISMAIL BIN IBRAHIM
Chief Executive

3

3.

MOHAMMED RIDHA BIN DATO’
HAJI ABD. KADIR
State Commissioner

Please refer page 025.

2.

DATO' BENJAMIN BIN HAJI HASBIE
Federal Commissioner

Dato' Benjamin holds a Masters in
Comparative Laws (1996) and an LLB
(Hons) from the International Islamic
University Malaysia (1994). He started his
career as a CID Investigation Officer in
Kuching, Sarawak. He later served at the
Political & Social Desk for the Sarawak
Special Branch.
In 1994, he was transferred to the
Federal Police Headquarters in Bukit
Aman where he served as the Legal
Officer of the Research & Development
Branch and later as the Assistant
Director of Training (Examination). In
2004, he was appointed as the Deputy
Chief Police Officer of the Royal Malaysian
Police, Malacca contingent. In 2006, he
became the Commandant of the Royal
Police Malaysia College in Kuala Lumpur.
He has also previously served as the
Chief of Staff (Inspector General of the
Police's Secretariat) for the Federal
Police Headquarters.
Dato' Benjamin joined IRDA on 1 May
2009. He currently heads the
Commissioner's Office as the Federal
Commissioner under the Chief
Executive's Office.
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Mohammed Ridha bin Dato’ Haji Abd.
Kadir is the Deputy Director of the Macro
and Privatisation team of the Johor
Economic Planning Unit and has held
this position since May 2014. He is also a
State Commissioner of IRDA.
Prior to this, Mohammed Ridha was
also the Deputy Director II of Johor Land
and Mine Department, Land Administrator
of Kota Tinggi Land Office, Principal
Assistant Director (Development) of
Johor Land and Mine Department, Group
Position (Study Leave) at the Johor State
Secretary Office, Deputy Director of Johor
State Science, Technology and ICT Unit,
Private Secretary to His Royal Highness
the Sultan of Johor at the Johor Royal
Department, Assistant Treasurer at
Johor State Treasury Office and Assistant
Land Administrator of Johor Bahru Land
Office. Mohammed Ridha also holds
directorships of the Johor Investment
Authority and Prisma Harta Sdn Bhd.
Mohammed Ridha holds a Bachelor of
Science (Economics) (Honours) from
Universiti Pertanian Malaysia and Master
in Technology Administration from
Universiti Teknologi Malaysia.
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4.

ASHARI BIN KASNAN
State Commissioner

Ashari bin Kasnan is a State
Commissioner at IRDA. He also sits on
the Approvals and Implementation
Committee and carries out the
responsibilities specified under Section
30 (4) of the IRDA Act 664 which include
overseeing the status of approvals for
major or strategic developments and
attending to any difficulties faced in
obtaining such approvals.
Ashari’s appointment as State
Commissioner is on a part-time
secondment basis to work alongside
current State Commissioner, Mohammed
Ridha bin Dato’ Haji Abd. Kadir. Ashari is
also the present Land Administrator at
the Johor Bahru Land Office, a position
he has held since 3 June 2013. Prior to
this, Ashari served the Johor State
Government at various District and Land
Offices in Kota Tinggi, Kluang, Muar, and
Johor Bahru. He also had stints at
INTAN Southern Region and Perbadanan
Usahawan Johor Sdn Bhd.
Ashari holds a Bachelor of Arts
(Honours) in International Relations from
the University of Keele, Staffordshire in
the UK.
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5.

NOR HISHAM BIN MOHD YUSOF
Director, Corporate Development
& Finance

Hisham joined IRDA on 1 March 2007
and is currently overseeing the Corporate
Planning, Finance, Business Process
Improvement, Business Development and
Public Private Partnership Facilitation
functions of IRDA.
An accountant by profession with
more than two decades of professional
experience in multinational and
government-linked companies. Hisham
has worked in various areas such as
strategic planning, trade promotions,
business development, corporate
governance, risk management and
corporate affairs, obtaining valuable
experience locally and abroad.
He graduated from the University of
Kent, Canterbury in United Kingdom
with a Second Class Upper Degree in
Accounting and Management Science in
1991. Hisham is an Associate Member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales; a Chartered
Accountant with the Malaysian Institute
of Accountants and a Chartered Member
of Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia.
He is also a Certified Internal Auditor
(United States) and a Certified Risk
Management Assurer (CRMA). He is
currently one of the Southern Regional
Committee Member of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants.
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6.

ENGKU AHMAD KAMEL BIN
ENGKU TAIB
Director, Economics & Investment

Engku Kamel joined IRDA in February
2010 as Head of the Corporate
Performance Management Division,
which oversees the Corporate Planning
and Programme Management Office
functions. In his current capacity as
Director, Economics & Investment, he
oversees the development of the nine
promoted economic sectors, the
formulation and packaging of incentives,
as well as business intelligence.
He has over 30 years of experience in
the sectors of banking, oil & gas, IT
consultancy, automotive manufacturing,
and business process outsourcing in
countries like Malaysia, the UK,
Singapore, Thailand, and the Philippines,
taking up roles in retail banking, oil &
gas marketing and retailing, and system
implementation. He has also managed a
manufacturing and sales systems
environment, and has headed a selfservice terminal outsourcing firm.
Engku Kamel graduated with a Bachelor’s
degree in Mathematics from Lancaster
University, UK, and earned his MBA from
Cranfield University, UK.
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7.

MOHAMAD BIN SA’ELAL
Director, Iskandar Service Centre

Mohamad graduated with a Bachelor
of Civil Engineering from the MARA
University of Technology (1982). He is a
registered trainer with Chartered
Institute of Personnel and Development
(CIPD), UK and a member of the
Malaysian Society of Adjudicators in
collaboration with The Construction
Industry Development Board (CIDB),
where he was involved in the training of
contractors and construction site
employees. He regularly presents
papers in seminars and conferences
both locally and abroad as well as
serves as a moderator for focus group
discussions, awareness programmes
and stakeholder engagements. Mohamed
has more than 25 years experience in
senior positions with various property
development companies in Malaysia.
He has vast experience in the planning
and execution of various development
projects, such as The Curve, Royale
Damansara Hotel, Ikea Mutiara
Damansara and the University of
Nottingham, Malaysia Campus in Selangor,
lskandar Malaysia and Puteri Harbour in
Iskandar Puteri and others. Mohamad
was appointed as the Head of Integrated
Planning, IRDA on 17 February 2010. He
led the team in the formulation of policy
and strategy on land use planning,
environment, infrastructure,
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transportation and safety & security for
lskandar Malaysia. He also sits on the
Board of Prisma Harta Sdn Bhd.

8.

SAFUAN BIN YUSOF
Director, Corporate Services

Safuan joined IRDA in March 2009 as
Chief Information Officer (CIO). He is
also responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the ICT Blueprint for
Iskandar Malaysia, which aims to make
Iskandar Malaysia’s ICT infrastructure
world-class by 2020.
He has over 20 years of experience in
ICT support, software development,
project management, and ICT consultancy.
Having commenced his career as a
Software Programmer at DEC Ltd (UK),
the second largest ICT company in the
world at that time, he subsequently
returned to Malaysia to assume the role
of Analyst Programmer in Shell Malaysia
Trading Sdn Bhd. This marked the start of
his tenure in ICT management with other
big-name companies, including Sapura
Digital Sdn Bhd, EON Berhad, KLB
Berhad, MISC Berhad, British American
Tobacco (M) Berhad, and DHL (Cyberjaya).
He was the CIO at Titan Chemicals Berhad
in Johor for three years prior to joining
IRDA. As such, he brings to the table
astute insights garnered from his stints in
the oil & gas, logistics, petrochemical,
telecommunication, and manufacturing
industries.
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Safuan graduated with a Master of
Philosophy in Computer Speech and
Language Processing from Cambridge
University, and holds a Bachelor of
Engineering (Hons) in Information System
Engineering from Surrey University.

9.

MAIMUNAH BINTI JAFFAR
Head, Planning & Compliance

Maimunah graduated from University of
Arizona, Tuscon, USA. She has 25 years of
working experience. She worked for four
years in the US as an architect before
returning home in 1992, working with
Arkitek Jururancang Malaysia and later
with AJM Planning and Urban Design
Group as an urban designer.
She was involved in the preparation of
Iskandar Malaysia Comprehensive
Development Plan in 2006 as a consultant
and was instrumental for the review of
the document. Maimunah joined IRDA in
2007 and is currently Head of Planning
& Compliance.
Her responsibilities include ensuring
stakeholders' alignment to the lskandar
Malaysia vision by developing and providing
sustainability framework such as the
Iskandar Malaysia Smart City framework.
as well as driving and facilitating key
blueprint initiatives; advisory on
development compliance; and provide
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strategic environmental policy advice and
directions for lskandar Malaysia through
the Green-focused Agenda.

10. MOHD REDZUAN BIN MOHD
SOFIAN
Head, Business Eco-System
Redzuan joined IRDA in 2007. He
graduated from Northwestern University,
USA with a Bachelor's Degree in Chemical
Engineering. He went on to further his
tertiary education at the University of
Birmingham, UK, where he attained his
Masters in Business Administration (MBA).
He is a trained Master Trainer and a
member of the Chartered Institute of
Personnel and Development (CIPD) in
the UK. He started his career with
Petronas as an engineer and went on to
be Chief Operating Officer of Kurita
Chemicals in Japan. He also held the
position of Chief Operating Officer at the
Arab Economics and Business Group.

11. HANIZAH BINTI MUHAMMAD
Head, Internal Audit
Hanizah joined IRDA in November
2009 and is responsible for the auditing
of IRDA’s internal systems and
processes. She reports directly to the
Audit Committee.
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Her 20 years of work experience
commenced with her stint in a UKbased chartered accountancy firm
before returning to Malaysia to join
Malaysia National Insurance, where she
served as the Head of Treasury in the
finance division. Her venture into
internal audit and risk management
began when she joined Sapura Holdings
Sdn Bhd. She was on the editorial board
for the Institute of Internal Auditors
Malaysia, and held senior internal audit
posts in Pengurusan Danaharta Nasional
Berhad and Faber Group Berhad during
her tenure with these companies.
Hanizah holds a Bachelor of Accounting
degree from Lancashire Polytechnic,
Preston, and has a Certification in Risk
Management Assurance. She is also a
Certified Internal Auditor and a Chartered
Member of the Institute of Internal
Auditors Malaysia.

12. RUGAYAH YASMIN BINTI IBRAHIM
Head, Human Capital Management
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Utara Selatan (PLUS) Berhad, a company
under the Renong Group, as an Assistant
Manager where she was tasked to
oversee the compensation and benefits
unit under the Human Resources
Division. Rugayah was later transferred
to Projek Penyelenggaraan Lebuhraya
Berhad (PROPEL) in 1995 to head the
Human Resources and Administration
Division. The following year she was
headhunted to join Lingkaran Trans
Kota Sdn Bhd (LITRAK), an associate
company of GAMUDA Group.
In 2004, she joined Pos Malaysia
Berhad as the Deputy General Manager
directly involved in the transformation
initiatives. Rugayah joined IRDA on
5 September 2007 as the Vice President
of Human Capital Management. In July
2010, she became the Head of Human
Capital Management. Rugayah is
responsible for all Human Capital
matters within IRDA which involve
organising, integrating and directing all
human capital management activities.

Rugayah obtained her degree in
Business Administration from the
University of Ohio, Athens, USA (1983).
Her career in Human Resources began
in 1983 when she joined Advanced Micro
Devices, a multinational company in
Penang, as a Human Resources Officer.
In 1989, she joined Projek Lebuhraya
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13. BALBEER SINGH JESSY
Head, Legal & Secretarial Services
Balbeer holds a Master of Business
Administration from the University of
New England, Australia {2003), an LLB
(Hons) from the University of London and
a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) from Universiti
Sains Malaysia (USM). He also has
Certificate in Legal Practice (CLP) from
Malaysian Qualifying Board, having been
called to the Malaysian Bar in 2004.
He started his career working as an
Assistant TV Producer for USM.
Subsequently, he joined the New Straits
Times where he served in various positions
including Sub Editor, Bureau Chief, Acting
Editor and Assistant News Editor.
He later moved into advertising and
became Group Account Director and
General Manager of Public Relations in a
local agency where he managed several
blue-chip accounts. Balbeer joined IRDA
on 20 June 2007 as Assistant Vice
President, Strategic Communications. In
July 2011, he became the Head of Legal
& Secretarial Services.
14. SULAIMAN BIN YAHYA
Head, Strategic Communications
Sulaiman attained his Degree in Data
Processing and Management (Hons)
from the University of Leeds, United
Kingdom in 1987. Before he joined IRDA,
he was the Head of Corporate
Communications for DRB-HICOM

14

Berhad. He has vast knowledge in the
field of communications and branding
and has handled such functions in
various companies including Renong
Berhad (now UEM Berhad), Malaysian
Resources Corporation Berhad and
Scomi Group Berhad.
Before he entered the field of
communications, he had served as
Foreign Exchange Analyst at Affin Bank
for a period of four years. This was
followed by a 2 year stint as the
Economic Editor for the news segment
at Metrovision (now 8TV).
He was exposed to the public sector
when he served as Special Officer to the
Chief Executive of Unit Peneraju Agenda
Bumiputera (TERAJU), a unit under the
Prime Minister's Office. He joined IRDA
in 2014.
15. MOHD ZAM BIN MUSTAMAN
Head, Projects and PMO
Mohd Zam joined IRDA in 2012 as
Senior Vice President with the Corporate
Development & Finance Division and
became Head of Division since 1 January
2015. He is responsible for the planning
and implementation of public
infrastructure projects of the Federal
Government in Iskandar Malaysia. He is
also a member of the NAPREC Expert
Panel under the Ministry of Finance,
Malaysia in Real Estate Laws & Policies.
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He has vast experiences in the field of
corporate services, development,
property & project management,
corporate laws, valuation and business
development. He used to hold key
positions at Johor Corporation as
Property Manager, General Manager
and Head of Department in the Real
Estate & Legal Division, Business
Development and Corporate Affairs
between 1982 to 2005. He also used to
be the Executive Director (Development,
Administration & Legal Affairs) and
Group Head of Company Secretaries at
QSR Holdings Berhad and KFC (Malaysia)
Berhad, two public listed companies in
Malaysia between 2006 to 2012 and
being a Non-Executive Director in public
listed companies and private limited
companies in the Johor Corporation
stable amongst others in Damansara
Realty Berhad, Al Aqar REITS Berhad,
Johor Land Berhad, Tg Langsat Port
Sdn Bhd and other companies in
Singapore, Indonesia, Thailand,
Philippines, Hong Kong and India.
He obtained his Bachelor of Surveying
(Property Management) (Hons) and
Diploma in Valuation from UTM and an
LLB (Hons) from the Cardiff Law School,
United Kingdom and the Certificate in
Legal Practice (Malaysia). He has been
admitted to the Roll of Advocates &
Solicitors of the High Court of Malaya
(1993), is a Fellow of the Royal Institution
of Surveyors, Malaysia (RISM), a member
of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (MRICS), a member of the
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Malaysia Institute of Professional
Property Managers (MIPPM) and is also
registered with the Board of Valuers,
Appraisers & Estate Agents, Malaysia
(BOVEAM). He has also been a Council
Member of the RISM from 2008-2014.
He is an alumnus of the Malay College
Kuala Kangsar.
16. BOYD DIONYSIUS JOEMAN
Head, Environment
Boyd has been involved in spatial and
environmental planning and management
since 1980, working on studies and
projects within Malaysia and abroad,
before joining IRDA in 2008. He obtained
his degree in Town Planning Studies in
the United Kingdom, where he worked for
over 20 years before returning to Sabah.
A former Member of the Royal Town
Planning Institute (UK), Boyd also studied
Architecture when he was in the UK.
Boyd heads the Environment Division
at IRDA. His Division is responsible for
the environmental planning and
management of Iskandar Malaysia. Boyd
is directly responsible for the
development and implementation of the
Low Carbon Society Blueprint (LCSBPIM
2025) together with Universiti Teknologi
Malaysia, Kyoto University, Okayama
University and the National Institute for
Environmental Studies, Japan. The
LCSBPIM 2025 is the first of such
document ever done in Malaysia, the
template of which is now being used in
the preparation of similar LCS
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documents for Dewan Bandaraya Kuala
Lumpur (KL City Hall) and a number of
other countries in ASEAN.
Apart from overseeing the Division,
Boyd’s current work at Iskandar
Malaysia includes the implementation of
the LCSBPIM at local level through the
LCS Action Plans for five Local
Authorities, the introduction of CASBEE
and other assessment tools for building
efficiency, and the promotion of the
Future City Initiative. Boyd was also
involved in Iskandar Malaysia being
chosen as one of ten cities and regions
globally under the Sustainable Energy
for All (SE4ALL) programme by the
United Nations.
Together with his small but highly
dedicated and experienced team, Boyd
helped prepare several development
and management blueprints on
environment including the Environmental
Planning Blueprint, Shoreline
Management Plan, Green Economy
Guidelines, CASBEE, GAIA (Green Accord
Initiative Award) and the Building Energy
Monitoring and Reporting System for
Iskandar Malaysia.
Boyd has written books, papers and
ar ti cle s o n sp ati a l p la n n i ng a n d
environment-related topics including
public awareness and involvement, on
Charrettes, Village Appraisals and Town
Centre Economic Health-Checks as well
as LCS. He is a regular speaker at
national and international events.
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17. SUHAILY BINTI ABDUL HAMID
Head, Social Development
Batu Pahat-born Suhaily Abdul Hamid
received her early education at the Tunku
Kurshiah College, Seremban and received
her First Degree in Agribusiness
(Honours), majoring in Marketing from
Universiti Putra Malaysia. She started
her career in 1997 in the property
management subsidiary of Johor
Corporation for five years before she was
entrusted to be the Building Manager for
a few buildings owned by Johor
Corporation. Suhaily was one of the
pioneer members of the Special Projects
Team which was formed in Khazanah
Nasional Berhad in 2005 to undertake
the task of preparing the Masterplan for
South Johor Economic Region, now
known as Iskandar Malaysia. She was
assigned to be the program manager of
all the deliverables committed to the
Government including the formation of
IRDA. She was then seconded to Iskandar
Investment Berhad to set up the new
organisation before joining Iskandar
Regional Development Authority (IRDA) in
2008 as the Vice President of Social
Development Division and was promoted
to the Senior Vice President of the same
division in 2010. During her 7-year tenure
in Social Development, Suhaily has
played an instrumental role in yearly
business planning of the division and
delivery of various social development
strategic initiatives.
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COMMISSIONER'S OFFICE

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

Liaison with the Federal Ministries and State Agencies,
establish contacts and syndications with the Foreign Governments,
Embassies and High Commissions. Escalate and facilitates
issues that require high level interventions from the Federal and
State Governments to ensure that all projects, initiatives and
developments within Iskandar Malaysia are successfully
implemented.

Enhance the participation of local population in the
anticipated economic growth and ensure equitable
distribution of wealth among various groups and races
through community development, economic & social
inclusion and asset & wealth sharing.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Assist the Audit Committee to effectively discharge their
stewardship and oversee responsibilities to maintain sound
internal control system to achieve the organisation's objectives.

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT & FINANCE
Develop IRDA strategic corporate annual business plan and
risk assessment, financial and treasury management, enhance
business processes with stakeholders, Public Private Partnership
Facilitation and commercialisation of public infrastructure and
services, and develop and identify viable business opportunities
and business models leading to income - generating activities.

BUSINESS ECO-SYSTEM

ISKANDAR SERVICE CENTRE
Provide comprehensive facilitation and processing services
which is one of the critical components in determining the
overall speed of development in Iskandar Malaysia.

ENVIRONMENT
Provide excellent and robust strategic environmental
policy advice and directions for lskandar Malaysia and IRDA
Divisions through the Green-focused Agenda; and oversee
the implementation of IRDA's Low Carbon Society Blueprint.

STRATEGIC COMMUNICATIONS
Create a strong brand for Iskandar Malaysia and the nine
promoted sectors through constant engagement with
stakeholders and media.

Strengthen and accelerate the growth of SME and business
eco-system to support the development of the nine promoted
sectors and develop promoted sectors Human Capital
requirements in Iskandar Malaysia.

HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

ECONOMICS & INVESTMENT

CORPORATE SERVICES

Conduct business intelligence, strategic planning and
development of nine promoted sectors, marketing planning,
coordinate and facilitate strategic enablers.

Provide excellent office administration services, up-to-date
ICT infrastructure and business application and efficient
procurement and contract processes.

PROJECTS & PMO

LEGAL & SECRETARIAL SERVICES

Implement and monitor strategic projects from award to
handing over stage, provide project management support and
conduct project outcome and benefit realisation study.

Provide legal services, guidance and advice to IRDA and its
divisions with a great number of different legal matters
from contract management, business development, litigation,
Federal & State government affairs, arising in administration
function as well as providing efficient secretarial services.

PLANNING & COMPLIANCE

Adopt and implement HR best practices for the organisation
and maintain a culture of 'people excellence' through human
capital deliveries and initiatives.

Ensure stakeholders' alignment to Iskandar Malaysia's vision
by developing and providing sustainability framework through
integrated initiatives, including monitoring and implementation
of all blueprints initiatives.
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KEY
HIGHLIGHTS

4-6 February
Cityscape Malaysia in Kuala Lumpur
• Iskandar Malaysia participated in the
exhibition along with a variety of real
estate related companies, including
those highlighting the best investment
opportunities in residential,
commercial and retail real estate in
Kuala Lumpur and beyond.
8 February
• Future City Initiatives International
Conference at Thistle Hotel, Johor
Bahru.

Visit by HRH Sultan of Johor

JANUARY
19 January 2015
Visit by HRH Sultan Ibrahim Ibni
AlMarhum Sultan Iskandar together with
YAB Menteri Besar of Johor to IRDA &
Launching of the Electric Vehicle at
Iskandar Malaysia Information Centre,
Danga Bay – the visit was to share
updates on Iskandar Malaysia to HRH
Sultan of Johor.

FEBRUARY
1-3 February
• Iskandar Malaysia–Indonesia TransRegional Investment Promotion
No.17 (IMITRA XVII) to Medan.
•

IRDA collaborated with Knight
Frank for this mission. The
objective of this mission is to
showcase Iskandar Malaysia
developments and updates and to
highlight IRDA’s initiatives,
programmes and social activities
towards building a sustainable
eco-system in Iskandar Malaysia.
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•

Ministry of Urban Wellbeing,
Housing and Local Government,
Federal Department of Town and
Country Planning Peninsular
Malaysia, the Johor State
Government, Iskandar Regional
Development Authority, Johor
Bahru City Council, Universiti
Teknologi Malaysia supported by
Cabinet Secretariat, Cabinet Office,
Government of Japan co-organised
the Future City Initiative
International Forum. The Forum
aims to share examples the
successful 'Future City' efforts to
build a coalition between the cities
and to stimulate the related
business opportunities.

26 February
Signing Ceremony and Exchange of MoU
between Ronser Bio-Tech Berhad and
IRDA at Thistle Hotel, Johor Bahru
• This signifies the establishment of a
Strategic Partnership.
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Cityscape @ Kuala Lumpur Convention Centre

Datacloud South East Asia 2015 at Puteri Harbour

MARCH

APRIL

5-6 March
• International Outsourcing Forum
Locations Asia 2015 was held at
Jen Hotel, Puteri Harbour.

8-9 April
IRDA participated in Datacloud South
East Asia 2015 at Jen Hotel, Puteri
Harbour to promote Iskandar Malaysia as
a destination for data centre.

•

International Outsourcing Forum
Locations Asia provides an exclusive
arena for senior representatives
from global corporations to meet
Investment Promotion Agencies from
across the globe and discover the
opportunities available to maximising
their operations.

10 March
• IRDA announced total cumulative
committed investment amounting
to RM158.13 Billion up to
31 December 2014.
24 March
• Technical work visit by the Yang
di-Pertua of Pulau Pinang TYT Tun
Dato' Seri Utama (Dr.) Haji Abdul
Rahman bin Haji Abbas to Iskandar
Malaysia - the visit was to provide
TYT with updates on Iskandar
Malaysia’s developments and
enable him to personally
experience the vibrancy of the
economic zone.
30 March
• Official visit by H.E Professor Dr. H
Susilo Bambang Yudhoyono former
President of Indonesia to Kota
Iskandar – the visit was to provide
H.E with updates on Iskandar
Malaysia’s developments.
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30 April
• Iskandar Malaysia Industry Speaks
2015 – Hospitality & Tourism Sector
in Iskandar Malaysia Information
Centre, Danga Bay.
•

It’s a platform for all HR practitioners
and professionals to network, share
intelligence and ultimately address
the talent requirements in this
industry. Information gathered from
the discussion will be used to design
and customise specific interventions
to address any qualitative or
quantitative gaps in the talent pool
that organisations in Iskandar
Malaysia may face.

6 May
TERAJU@Iskandar Malaysia SME
Outreach 2015 at Renaissance Hotel
Johor Bahru
• This programme is to provide
latest information on the assistance
available for the development of
SMEs in Iskandar Malaysia.
IRDA announced new committed
investment up to end of 1st quarter of
2015 amounting to RM166.10 Billion.
16-17 May
Havoc Hartanah Iskandar Malaysia
2015 at Iskandar Malaysia Information
Centre
• This is a property education and
awareness seminar - targeting the
youth, on current property scenario,
home ownership tips and how to
gain from property investment.

MAY
4 May
Visit by Minister of International Trade
and Industry, YB Dato' Sri Mustapa
Mohamed to Iskandar Malaysia at
Pinewood Iskandar Malaysia Studios
Iskandar Puteri, Johor
• The visit was to provide the Minister
with updates on Iskandar Malaysia’s
developments.
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Launching of HAB @ Hutan Bandar, Johor Bahru

23 May
Launching of Hutan Kita @ Bandar Seri
Alam by YABhg Tun Jeanne Abdullah,
Chairman of Lanskap Malaysia
• 1,000 trees were planted at Taman
Tasik Seri Alam as another effort
towards greening Iskandar
Malaysia region to increase carbon
sequestration reserve.
Generasi Sihat & Hijau 2015 (GENSHI’15)
at Rumah Iskandar Malaysia, Iskandar
Puteri, Johor
• Three major milestones were
launched namely the recognition of
Rumah Iskandar Malaysia as a Smart
Healthy City Township, launching of
the Rider’s Corner and prize
presentation to the winners of the
Water and Energy saving competition.
25 May
Medini Live 2015 Countdown at Mall of
Medini, Iskandar Puteri
• This is an inaugural festival of music,
film, arts and community presented
by Medini Iskandar Malaysia.
26 May
• United Nations Secretary-General
Scientific Advisory Board (UN-S-G
SAB) Meeting at Mandarin Oriental
Kuala Lumpur.
•

IRDA set up a booth for the said
event to update the public on
Iskandar Malaysia.

WIEF 2015 @ Kuala Lumpur Convention Centre

27 May
• Iskandar Malaysia – MOE TVET
Employment Carnival 2015 at Thistle
Hotel Johor Bahru.

16 June
• MICCI Conference at Thistle Hotel
Johor Bahru.
•

•

This targeted initiative is with the
core aim of increasing employability
of TVET skilled trainees whilst
facilitating to meet the Human
Capital demand requirements of
employers in Iskandar Malaysia.

JUNE
9 June
Standard Chartered - BMCC Summit
2015 at Jen Hotel Puteri Harbour
• IRDA participated in an international
investor outreach programme
hosted by Standard Chartered and
the British Malaysian Chamber of
Commerce. YBhg Datuk Ismail bin
Ibrahim delivered a presentation on
Iskandar Malaysia at the conference
themed “Iskandar - Elevating Cross
Border Opportunities in Asean and
Beyond”.
14 June
• Visit by H.E Carlos Felix, Ambassador
of Mexico to Iskandar Malaysia. He
was received by YBhg Datuk Ismail
bin Ibrahim, IRDA Chief Executive
who updated him on Iskandar
Malaysia’s developments.
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YBhg Datuk Ismail bin Ibrahim,
Chief Executive of IRDA was invited
to deliver the opening speech. This
event included business briefings
and networking session on the
latest news and information.

25-27 June
• The 4th OECD Knowledge Sharing
Workshop on Urban Green Growth
in Dynamic Asia in Hai Phong,
Vietnam.
•

IRDA participated in the workshop
which is designed to enhance the
quality and impact of policy dialogue
among OECD members and non
members. Hai Phong is the 4th
Asian case study of the project, after
Bangkok, Iskandar Malaysia and
Bandung, Indonesia. The focus of
the workshop is “green growth in
port cities”. YBhg Datuk Ismail bin
Ibrahim delivered his presentaion at
the workshop.

JULY
9 July
IRDA announced total cumulative
committed investment up to end of 2nd
quarter of 2015 amounting to RM172.51
Billion.
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Hutan Kita @ Bandar Seri Alam

AUGUST
3 August
Launching of the Youth Entrepreneurship
Development Iskandar Malaysia
(Dropcash) at Dewan Serbaguna Politeknik
Ibrahim Sultan, Jalan Kong Kong, Pasir
Gudang, Johor
• This programme is an
entrepreneurship development
programme for youth, specifically
for small/micro online businesses
owners.
5 August
Iskandar Malaysia Industry SPEAKS
Series #2/2015 (Electrical & Electronics)
at Grand Paragon Hotel, Johor Bahru
• This is a platform for all HR
practitioners and professionals to
network, share intelligence and
ultimately addresses the talent
requirements in industry.
15 August
Launch of Johor International Youth
Hub in Hutan Bandar Johor Bahru
• Johor International Youth Hub
(HAB) is designed for the youth by
the youth and it will be managed
by the youth. It’s the first in
Malaysia and it was launched by
Johor Menteri Besar YAB Dato'
Mohamed Khaled bin Nordin.
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24 August
Opening Ceremony of Kongkong Laut
Eco and Agro Tourism Tourist Information
Centre in Kongkong Laut, Masai
• The information centre was
launched by YBhg Datuk Ismail bin
Ibrahim, Chief Executive of IRDA.
29 August
Zoo Enrichment Programme at Zoo
Johor
• IRDA in collaboration with the
Pertubuhan Sukarelawan Hidupan
Zoo dan Marin Johor, Agensi Anti
Dadah Kebangsaan Negeri Johor,
SMK Impian Emas Johor Bahru
and JOSO Malaysia organised the
Zoo Enrichment Programme at
Zoo Johor.
•

•

More than 100 volunteers from the
said organisations participated in
the beautification and cleaning up
of the Sun Bear cages at the zoo.
The Sun Bear at Zoo Johor was
adopted by IRDA in 2015.
The volunteers installed new
signboards, refurbished and
cleaned the cages as well as
beautify the cages with mural
painting.

SEPTEMBER
5 September
Educity Sundown Johor Malaysia at
Educity Sports Complex, Iskandar Puteri
• Educity Sundown Malaysia, is the
2nd edition with a Half Marathon
and 12KM run. The event drew
almost 7000 runners from at home
and abroad.
•

Educity Sundown Malaysia carries
the theme "Pulse of the Tribe"
aiming to bring together groups of
friends, family or co-workers to
challenge themselves with a sense
of team spirit.

12-13 September
Smart City Conference in Yinchuan,
People's Republic of China
• YBhg Datuk Ismail bin Ibrahim was
invited to present on Iskandar
Malaysia.
29 September
Invest Iskandar Malaysia (IIM 2015) at
Persada Johor International Convention
Centre
• IIM 2015 conference drew almost
450 participants among Iskandar
Malaysia stakeholders. YBhg Dato’
Seri Idris bin Jala, CEO of
Performance and Management
Delivery Unit (PEMANDU) delivered
the keynote address.
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OCTOBER

NOVEMBER

11-13 October
International Conference of Low
Carbon Asia at DoubleTree Hotel, Johor
Bahru, Malaysia
• Universiti Teknologi Malaysia (UTM),
through the UTM-Low Carbon Asia
Research Centre (UTM-LCAR) cohosted this very important dual
event with the Institute for Global
Environmental Strategies (IGES),
Japan and the Iskandar Regional
Development Authority (IRDA). YAB
Dato' Mohamed Khaled bin Nordin,
Menteri Besar Johor, unveiled the
LoCARNet Iskandar Malaysia
Declaration to be presented during
COP21 in Paris.

3-5 November
11th World Islamic Economic Forum
in Kuala Lumpur
• IRDA together with Iskandar
Investment Berhad & Medini
Iskandar Malaysia participated in
the event. YAB Dato' Sri Mohd Najib
bin Tun Abdul Razak also visited
Iskandar Malaysia booth during the
walkabout.

20 October
IRDA announced total cumulative
committed investment up to end of 3rd
quarter at 2015 amounting to RM185.34
Billion.
21-22 October
Future Cities Asia 'Harnessing Technology
to Transform Urban Infrastructure'
• Iskandar Malaysia was invited to
present during the conference on
Smart City. Dr. Yusoff Sulaiman,
President and CEO, Malaysian
Industry-Government Group for
High Technology (MIGHT) delivered
the opening speech. IRDA
showcased Iskandar Malaysia as a
Smart City. The event drew almost
200 participants.
22-23 October
Investment Seminar in Toyama, Japan
• Using the same brand platform of
Invest Iskandar Malaysia, this
seminar provided a platform to
discuss business collaboration
between Iskandar Malaysia and
Toyama. YBhg Datuk Ismail bin
Ibrahim led IRDA's investment
team in this initiative.

28 November
Launching of Fair Price Shop in Pasir
Gudang
• Inspired by the mission to help
deal with the cost of living and
reduce economic disparities of the
people especially in Johor. The
Fair Price Shop was launched by
YAB Dato Mohamed Khaled bin
Nordin, Menteri Besar Johor.

DECEMBER
1 December
Moving Forward Energy Efficiency
Programme in Iskandar Malaysia at
Mutiara Hotel Johor Bahru
• A programme to ensure industries
and commercial sectors that
consume high energy to comply
with Energy Management of
Electrical Energy Regulations
(EMEER) 2008 Act. To bring
awareness to stakeholders on how
to practice energy efficient building
management which will bring
benefits such as cost savings on
energy bills, increase asset value
of buildings, minimise maintenance
cost, improve the operating
performance of buildings and
reduce building’s carbon emissions
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Iskarnival 2015 @ Puteri Harbour

that promotes greener
environment. The event was
graced by YB Datuk Tee Siew
Kiong, EXCO for Tourism, Trade
and Consumer Affairs of Johor.
5 December
Hutan Bandar MPJBT was awarded
the Smart Healthy City Township by YB
Datuk Latif bin Haji Bandi, Johor State
Exco for Housing and Local Government
• This programme is an intersectoral
collaboration between IRDA,
MPJBT, Johor State Health
De p a r tme n t, PDRM Isk andar
Puteri, Johor Bahru District Health
Office, Mutiara Rini Sdn Bhd,
Scientex Sdn Bhd and Tesco
Mutiara Rini. The Programme was
attended by 500 participants.
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7 December
IRDA launches the LowCarbon Society
• Action Plan 2005 for Five Local
Authorities in Iskandar Malaysia at
COP21 in Paris.
5-6 December
Iskarnival 2015 at Puteri Harbour
• Organised by UEM Sunrise and
Iskandar Investment Berhad with
support from state of Johor,
Khazanah Nasional Berhad and
IRDA, Iskarnival is a festival of
education, entertainment and
everything in between. The festival
was filled with loads of fun activities,
games for little kids and delicious
food to savour, but one of the main
attractions of the festival is the alllocal concert featuring various
talented musicians and bands from
the country. The 2-day event
attracted almost 70,000 visitors.
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8-10 December
The Cityquest-KAEC Forum in King
Abdullah Economic City, Saudi Arabia
• The Cityquest-KAEC Forum
assembles stakeholders from the
world’s boldest new city projects to
engage with their peers and discuss
the challenges and opportunities
faced when developing an urban
mega-project. IRDA participated in
a panel session on value branding
during the forum.
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KEY RESULT AREAS
1. PRODUCING QUALITY
ECONOMIC GROWTH
To ensure high quality investments
in the promoted sectors as well as
generating strong growth
opportunities for supporting
industries. A conducive business
eco-system must be created for
the promoted sectors, with the
private sector as the key driver of
all investments.

2. BOLSTERING
STAKEHOLDER
CONFIDENCE
To create strong belief among
stakeholders and ensure
stakeholders exercise shared
responsibility in developing
Iskandar Malaysia in a sustainable
manner.

3. DRIVING DELIVERY
EXCELLENCE
To provide effective and efficient
public service, and world-class
infrastructure, both soft and hard,
to benefit the Rakyat and
businesses.

4. DEVELOPING PEOPLE
FOR THE FUTURE
To train and ensure a talented
pool of workforce will be available
to support the economic
development and market demands
as well as promoting first-class
mentality through innovation and
knowledge empowerment.
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5. CARING FOR SOCIAL
AND ENVIRONMENT
SUSTAINABILITY
To ensure social balance and
equitable distribution of wealth
with practical environmental
management.
This IRDA 2015 Annual Report
showcases how these strategies
were translated and implemented
on the ground through execution
of projects, initiatives and
programmes.
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Producing Quality
Economic Growth
To ensure high quality investments in the promoted sectors as well as generating
strong growth opportunities for supporting industries. A conducive business
eco-system must be created for the promoted sectors, with the private sector as
the key driver of all investments.
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Malaysia is also expected
to ascend to the ranks
of Asian nations with
gross domestic product
in excess of US$1
trillion by 2030 – a
sterling testimony of
our economy’s immense
potential
Invest Iskandar Malaysia 2015

Global and Malaysian Economic
Review, 2015
Global economic growth came in weaker
than expected in 2015 at just 2.4%, on
account of falling commodity prices,
anaemic trade and capital flows, and
episodes of financial volatility. Developing
countries saw moderating growth
momentum in the year but are projected to
chart stronger growth in 2016.
In spite of the global headwinds,
Malaysia’s economy grew 5% in 2015,
marginally lower than the 6% recorded

in 2014 but still higher than the consensus. This growth was underpinned by healthy
expansion in the manufacturing, services, and construction sectors. Inflation and
unemployment remained muted. In the year ahead, domestic demand will continue
to drive growth, with some support to be derived from net exports. This would give
some comfort in an environment projected to be fraught with downside risks to
growth emanating from the external environment and the domestic reforms
currently taking place.
It is also heartening to note Malaysia’s continued prominence among the
international investor fraternity. US-based global information company IHS Inc.
recently ranked Malaysia among Asia Pacific’s top 10 foreign direct investment
hotspots. Malaysia is also expected to ascend to the ranks of Asian nations with
gross domestic product in excess of US$1 trillion by 2030 – a sterling testimony of
our economy’s immense potential. Besides that, Malaysia scored highly in global
integrated logistics provider Agility’s 2016 Emerging Markets Logistics Index,
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coming in at 4th place on account of its sustained commitment to economic
diversification and drive to develop and upgrade its infrastructure. The index also
ranked Malaysia’s business climate at 10th place. This finding was echoed by the
World Bank’s Ease of Doing Business rankings that placed Malaysia in a
commendable 18th spot. Taken together, Malaysia’s prospects of achieving its future
investment promotion goals are looking decidedly bright.

Investment Performance for Iskandar Malaysia, 2015
Against a challenging backdrop, Iskandar Malaysia has hearteningly achieved
committed investment of RM32.16 billion in 2015, a 21% growth from the previous
year’s achievement of RM26.50 billion. This brings the total cumulative committed
investment to RM190.29 billion for the 2006-December 2015 period. Of this total,
approximately 52% (RM98.47 billion) has been realised on the ground.
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The manufacturing sector, as before,
contributed the most to the total
cumulative committed investment with
an investment sum of RM54.08 billion
(28%). This was followed by the retail/
mixed development property and
residential segments which accounted
for RM45.24 billion (24%) and RM40.06
billion (21%) respectively. Meanwhile,
the services sector, which covers the
tourism, logistics, healthcare, education,
financial & business services and
creative sectors accounted for RM14.84
billion (8%) of the total cumulative
committed investment of RM190.29
billion.

Promotion of Iskandar Malaysia
IRDA undertook a series of
engagements with government
ministries, agencies, and major
shareholders to develop the target
economic sectors as part of IRDA’s
implementation of the six services
sector and halal roadmaps (Creative,
Tourism, Healthcare, Education,
Logistics, Financial Services, and halal).
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Manufacturing

54.08
billion

RM

Retail/Mixed Development

45.24
billion

RM

Invest Iskandar Malaysia 2015

To promote Iskandar Malaysia as an investment
destination of choice, activities that took place throughout
the year include organising and participating in trade
investment missions, having direct engagements with
existing and potential investors and key stakeholders on
the opportunities in the promoted sectors, participating in
major conferences and seminars, and holding other
promotional activities.

International Trade and Industry (MITI), and Dato’ Sri Che Khalib,
Group Managing Director of MMC Corporation Berhad. Engku
Kamel, IRDA’s Director of Economics & Investment, was also on
hand to provide updates on Iskandar Malaysia’s latest developments.
The presentations were interspersed with three panel discussions
moderated by IRDA’s officers, with major Iskandar Malaysia
investors in active participation.

Invest Iskandar Malaysia 2015 in Singapore and Tokyo
Invest Iskandar Malaysia 2015
Recognising the brand ‘Iskandar Malaysia’ and to leverage
on a consistent messaging to promote investments, IRDA
launched the Invest Iskandar Malaysia (IIM) 2015 conference
series at PERSADA on 29 September 2015. Titled ‘2016 &
Beyond: Sustainable Growth through Resilience and
Innovation’, the IIM 2015 drew almost 450 participants and
stakeholders for the one-day conference. Dato’ Seri Idris
bin Jala, CEO of the Performance and Management Delivery
Unit (PEMANDU), delivered the keynote address, with
presentations from Datuk P. Ravindran, Senior Director of
the ASEAN Economic Cooperation Division in the Ministry of
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Trade and investment missions play a significant role in
increasing global investor awareness of Iskandar Malaysia and
attracting further inflows of investments to the region. Using the
same brand platform of Invest Iskandar Malaysia 2015, we
organised the IIM 2015 in Singapore in collaboration with Bank of
Tokyo UFJ and the Japanese Chamber of Commerce and Industry
in Singapore (focusing on Japanese investments) as well as in
Japan’s Tokyo, Nagaoka city, and Toyama city. A total of 17
participants from eight companies representing some of our
important investors in Iskandar Malaysia joined the five-day
investment mission to Japan.
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Iskandar Malaysia – Indonesia Trans-Regional Investment Promotion (IMITRA) in Medan

Iskandar Malaysia-Indonesia TransRegional Investment Promotion
(IMITRA)
In 2015, we continued with the various
initiatives under the Iskandar MalaysiaIndonesia Trans-Regional Investment
Promotion (IMITRA) investment platform
with three Investment Missions to
Indonesia covering Jakarta and Medan.

Trade and Investment Missions for 2015
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Japan
Korea
Indonesia
Singapore
Hong Kong
ASEAN Tourism Forum 2015 in
Nay Pyi Taw, Myanmar
PATA Travel Mart 2015 in
Bangalore, India

Continuous Collaboration with Key
Investment Promotion Agency
Besides the above main investment
promotion initiatives in 2015, IRDA
continued to collaborate closely with key
investment promotion agencies like the
Malaysian Investment and Development
Authority (MIDA), Ministry International
Trade and Industry (MITI) and Tourism
Malaysia to ensure a focused approach
to our promotional efforts on the
international stage.

pg 053

EXPERIENCE ISKANDAR MALAYSIA • • • • A World of Opportunities

Bolstering Stakeholder
Confidence
To create strong belief among stakeholders and ensure stakeholders exercise
shared responsibility in developing Iskandar Malaysia in a sustainable manner.
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The 6th President of Indonesia's visit to Iskandar Malaysia

Proactive Economics and Business
Information
IRDA produces monthly and special
editions publication called IM BizWatch
that provides timely in-house
commentary on global and regional
developments and their potential
implications for Iskandar Malaysia. The
investment performance updates
contained in this publication also help
investors keep abreast of the current
developments in Iskandar Malaysia,
and provide readers with an overview
of the comprehensive decision-making
process undertaken at the senior
management level to ensure the
sustainability of Iskandar Malaysia as a
premier investment destination of the
region.

Official Visit of the 6th President of
Indonesia
IRDA played host to His Excellency
Professor Dr. H. Susilo Bambang
Yudhoyono, the 6th President of
Indonesia during his official visit to
Iskandar Malaysia on 30 March 2015.
This visit was to provide His Excellency
with updates on Iskandar Malaysia’s
developments and enable him to
personally experience the vibrancy of
the economic region.
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11th Malaysia-Singapore Joint Ministerial Committee for
Iskandar Malaysia

During this visit, His Excellency also
shared his views on Iskandar Malaysia
and Indonesia and how both entities
could mutually benefit from working
together. He also offered insightful
perspectives as Council Chair and
President of the Global Green Growth
Institute, and offered to introduce IRDA
to his business network in Indonesia to
further increase their investments in
Iskandar Malaysia.

11th Malaysia-Singapore Joint
Ministerial Committee for Iskandar
Malaysia
The Malaysia-Singapore Joint
Ministerial Committee for Iskandar
Malaysia (JMCIM) met for its 11th
working meeting on 6th February 2015 at
Shangri-La Putrajaya. Co-chaired by YB
Dato’ Seri Abdul Wahid Omar, Malaysia’s
Minister in the Prime Minister’s
Department, and HE Minister Khaw Boon
Wan, Singapore’s Minister for National
Development, the meeting saw Singapore
and Malaysia reaffirming the progress of
Iskandar Malaysia and reiterating their
commitment to its continued development.
The meeting also discussed the HighSpeed Rail project, wherein several subworking groups will form to examine the
technical intricacies of the system to be
adopted, in addition to the operating and
financing models which is to be

IRDA produces
monthly and special
editions of IM
BizWatch; an inhouse
commentary on
global anD regional
developments
implemented. The Transportation Links
Work Group also updated the meeting on
their progress in strengthening transport
connectivity and its quota increase for
cross-border bus services. On the Rapid
Transit System (RTS) Link, the second
phase of the Joint Engineering Study will
begin subsequent to the determination of
the terminus location in Johor Bahru.
The Industrial Cooperation Work
Group’s four areas of collaboration in
Advanced Materials Engineering,
Electronics, Food and Creative Services
reported good progress. The Immigration
Work Group, likewise, made good
progress in facilitating cross-border
movements of people and goods. The
Group also reported that an application
centre has been operating since January
2015 to facilitate Singaporeans’ take-up
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of the new Malaysian Automated
Clearance System, developed specifically
for fast-track immigration clearance.
The Iconic Projects Work Group
reported that the Afiniti Medini (an urban
wellness development) and Avira (a
resort wellness development) projects
are well on track, with the key anchor
tenants expected to commence operations
by end of 2015 at Afiniti Medini, whilst
Avira’s phase one saw a take-up rate of
82%. The Tourism Work Group will jointly
develop collaterals to promote two
wetlands as part of the twinning initiative
for Sungei Buloh and Pulau Kukup, whilst

exploring collaborations in events, MICE
(meeting, incentive, conference,
exhibition) initiatives, and student
programmes.
Finally, the Environment Work Group
revised its Terms of Reference. The
JMCIM agreed that both Iskandar
Malaysia and Singapore will oversee
environmental education, waste and
resource management, energy efficiency
and air quality management as new
areas for knowledge-sharing and
capacity-building.
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High-Level Engagements with
Federal and State Authorities
IRDA has organised various
engagements with Senior Officials of
the Federal and State Authorities
throughout the year in an effort to
ensure that communication channels
are open and in order to share the
progress of Iskandar Malaysia with the
relevant stakeholders. Meetings were
held with:
1.

2.

YB Dato’ Seri Dr. Ahmad Zahid bin
Hamidi, Minister of Home Affairs
on 25 January 2015 in Putrajaya;
YB Dato’ Sri Haji Fadillah bin Haji
Yusof, Minister of Works on 20
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Official Visits

The Iconic Projects Work Group
reported that the Afiniti
Medini (an urban wellness
development) and Avira
(a resort wellness
development) projects are
well on track

April 2015 in Putrajaya, to brief him on the implementation of the Iskandar
Malaysia Bus Rapid Transit (IMBRT);
3.

YB Dato’ Sri Liow Tiong Lai, Minister of Transport on 25 August 2015 in
Putrajaya to garner his support for the implementation of the IMBRT;

4.

YB Tuan Haji Ismail Mohamad, Committee Chairman of Agriculture and Agrobased Industry of Johor on 7 May 2015 at Kota Iskandar, to brief him on the
future development and upgrading of tourism infrastructure of Pulau Kukup
and Tanjung Piai;

5.

YBhg Tuan Haji Rofiki bin Samsudin, Chief Executive Officer of Majlis Agama
Islam Negeri Johor (MAINJ) on 17 September 2015 at Pusat Islam Iskandar
Johor to brief him and move forward on the proposed Iskandar Malaysia
Integrated Islamic Cemetery; and

6.

YB Datuk Haji Abdul Latif bin Haji Bandi, Committee Chairman of Housing &
Local Government of Johor on 6 October 2015 at Kota Iskandar, to brief him on
the establishment of a Real Estate Focus Group and to obtain the State’s
support for the initiative.
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IRDA played host to several senior
officials of the government, including:
1.

HE Dato’ Husni Zai bin Yaacob,
Malaysian High Commissioner to
Singapore on 18 August 2015;

2.

YB Datuk Nur Jazlan bin Mohamed,
Deputy Minister of Home Affairs &
Member of Parliament, Pulai on 28
November 2015 at the site of the
Sungai Segget project, where he
was updated on its current status;
and

3.

YDH Dato’ Wan Ahmad Najmuddin
bin Mohd, Chief Police of Johor on
16 December 2015.

High Level Visits:
1.

Visit by DYMM Sultan Ibrahim Al
Marhum Sultan Iskandar, Sultan of
Johor on 19 January 2015 to IRDA
where His Highness was updated on
the progress of Iskandar Malaysia
and the enhanced CDPii.

2.

Official visit to and speech by Yang
di-Pertua Negeri Pulau Pinang TYT
Pulau Pinang Tun Dato' Seri Utama
(Dr.) Haji Abdul Rahman bin Haji
Abbas at Iskandar Malaysia on 24
March 2015.

3.

Visit by YB Dato' Sri Mustapa bin
Mohamed, Minister of International
Trade and Industry to Iskandar
Malaysia on 4 May 2015.

EXPERIENCE ISKANDAR MALAYSIA • • • • A World of Opportunities

Policy and Knowledge-Sharing
Sessions
IRDA organised various policy and
knowledge-sharing sessions to benefit
the community in Iskandar Malaysia.
An Expert Talk was held on 20 April
2015 at the Iskandar Malaysia
Information Centre in Danga Bay,
featuring YDH Tan Sri Musa Hassan,
former Inspector General of the Royal
Malaysian Police, who spoke on safety
and security as a platform for corridor
development via shaping and managing
community perception. All Officers in
Charge of the Police District (OCPD) in
Iskandar Malaysia and Officers of IRDA
were in attendance at the talk which
also encouraged closer coordination
amongst agencies in carrying out their
duties.
A knowledge-sharing session was
held on 30 December 2015, featuring
Mr. Afdal Izal Md. Hashim, Senior
Principal Assistant Director of the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs’ Centre of
Leadership, Negotiation and Public
Diplomacy. The session deliberated on
national policies and the bilateral
relations between Malaysia and Iskandar
Malaysia with Singapore, Malaysia and
Iskandar Malaysia with the Association
of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) in
the context of the ASEAN Economic
Community, and the roles and functions
of the Government Agencies.

Safety & Security Projects
The Auxiliary Police Force of Iskandar
Malaysia participated in an Oath-Taking
Ceremony on 12 August 2015 at the
Iskandar Malaysia Information Centre,
Danga Bay. Nineteen Auxiliary Police
Constables graduated from the auxiliary

police training and were ready to serve
the community. This ceremony was
witnessed by Dato’ Benjamin Hasbie,
IRDA Federal Commissioner, and
Superintendent Noor Azmi bin Yusoff,
Staff Officer of the Coordination and
Resource Unit in the Crime Prevention
and Community Safety Department.
In an effort to instil a greater sense of
security in Iskandar Malaysia amongst
investors, residents and the general
community, the Community Police Post
(CPP) was incorporated as an element of
the Safety & Security Blueprint, which
enabled police personnels to take on
proactive roles in policing the region. The
CPP initiative sees the community joining
hands with the Royal Malaysian Police in
tackling localised crime and security
issues, instead of having the police going
it alone. As at 31 December 2015, 28
CPPs were constructed in populated
areas around Iskandar Malaysia, leaving
four in progress.
The 415 CCTV cameras installed earlier
are in the maintenance phase. PDRM has
found the CCTV surveillance system
useful in curbing crimes and helpful in
their investigations. The survey conducted
on CCTV Outcome Study receives an
overwhelming endorsement from the
public that crime was coming down and
that they felt safer with the CCTV
cameras installation in the public places.

Seminar on Passive Design for
Energy-Efficient Buildings
A seminar on passive design for
energy-efficient buildings in Iskandar
Malaysia was jointly organised by the
Building Sector Energy Efficiency Project
and Majlis Perbandaran Johor Bahru
Tengah (MPJBT) on 8 June 2015, with
support from IRDA, the Public Works
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Department, United Nations Development
Programme (UNDP) and the Global
Environment Facility (GEF). Building
professionals involved in the development
of sustainable and energy-efficient
buildings were in attendance at this
seminar, which aimed to spread
awareness of energy efficiency and
exchange ideas on best practices for
passive design.

TEDxSungaiSegget
A TEDx event called TEDxSungaiSegget
was organised on 15 August 2015 by
volunteers from RUN Solution, a social
entrepreneur organisation, with support
from IRDA under the Johor Bahru
Transformation Programme involving six
speakers from diverse backgrounds to
share their passions and inspirations with
topics that include (i) the history of Johor
Bahru, (ii) arts & culture, (iii) the natural
environment, (iv) social entrepreneurship,
(v) creative design, and (vi) the aspirations
of the young generation for their city.
More than 100 people attended this
inaugural event.
TEDx events are independently
organised TED conferences that attract
influential speakers from multidisciplinary
backgrounds to unleash new ideas,
inspire, and inform the local community.
The decision to organise this inaugural
meet in Johor (53 TEDx events had been
organised in Malaysia since 2009, mostly
in Kuala Lumpur) was in keeping with
the “Enhancing Identity and Communities”
agenda of the Johor Bahru Transformation
Programme, which specified the need to
increase local participation in community
initiatives as part of the master plan to
make Johor Bahru a world-class city.
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IRDA provided assistance
to six local cooperatives
to develop various
Business Plans, which
were subsequently
approved to obtain
financial assistance
from Social Project Fund
(SPF)

IX
P
L
A
VISU

TEDxSungaiSegget

Engaging the Local Business
Community
IRDA undertook various business
initiatives in 2015 to engage the local
small and medium enterprises (SMEs)
and private entities, in line with its
initiative to be a self-sustaining
organisation in the long run.
MY Iskandar Sdn Bhd (MISB) was
incorporated on 30 September 2015 as a
wholly owned company under IRDA in
order to group and align the management,
oversee and governance of all Special
Purpose Vehicles (SPVs) under a single
holding entity. This shall clearly separate
the core role and functions of IRDA as an
Authority from its commercial activities.
Further approvals have been obtained for
the setup of several new SPVs, such as
the Iskandar Malaysia Academy, a
centralised people development centre
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that caters to the talent needs of Iskandar
Malaysia to support the implementation
of Iskandar Malaysia’s Human Capital
Blueprint, and MaGICX, a joint-venture
(JV) between UTM (represented by GTIM
Sdn Bhd) and IRDA (represented by
MISB), aimed to establish an ecosystem
for Games/Gamification, Animation and
Mobile Contents/Applications, and
commercialisation of related Intellectual
Properties (IP). These new SPVs will
commence their operations in 2016.
Under the social-oriented Kawan
Iskandar Malaysia (KIM) programme,
IRDA provided assistance to six local
cooperatives to develop various Business
Plans, which were subsequently
approved to obtain financial assistance
from the Social Project Fund (SPF).
These cooperatives will use the fund to
either set up or expand their businesses
which will contribute to the income

growth of its members. Under the same
programme, IRDA also facilitated the
development of Business Plan to
manage and operate Medan Selera
Iskandar Malaysia, a food court that is
being constructed to enable members of
a cooperative in Gelang Patah to operate
their business in a cleaner and more
comfortable environment.
In terms of safety and security, apart
from the deployment of 19 new Auxiliary
Police (AP) that will help to boost safety
in Iskandar Malaysia further,
standardisation of end-to-end AP
operations to align with the Royal
Malaysian Police’s regulations and allow
for better control and management has
been implemented.
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IRDA also launched
an e-Mall, a
virtual shopping
platform with
e-payment
capabilities where
IRDA’s intellectual
properties and
merchandise are
made available
for sale online
IRDA also launched eMall, a virtual
shopping platform with e-payment
capabilities where IRDA’s intellectual
properties (e.g. CDPii and Blueprints)
and merchandise (e.g. Iskandar Malaysia
souvenir items) are made available for
sale online. An up-and-coming project is
the electronic information board at
Pandan Bridge, which will disseminate
official and community-sourced messages
to the public on various initiatives carried
out by government agencies and other
relevant organisations.

Some of the activities that could be
carried out using this platform include:
a.

Communicating our vision, targets
and development progress;

b.

Exploring areas of collaboration
with stakeholders;

c.

Engaging with the communications
teams of stakeholders;

d.

Sharing and aligning each
organisation’s communications plan
and exploring areas of collaboration;
and

e.

introducing the CDPii.

Iskandar Malaysia Surveys
IRDA conducted surveys that assesssed
Iskandar Malaysia’s and IRDA’s
performance in key areas like branding,
service delivery, and quality of life.
Surveys performed were the:

•

SQI – Satisfaction improved from
a mean score of 3.74 in 2014 to
3.94 in 2015. The majority of the
respondents were positive about
IRDA, although there is ample
room for improvement such as:
o

To update more information
on the IRDA website

o

To do more promotional
activities

QLS – Level of satisfaction
improved from 66% in 2014 to
79% in 2015. An additional 14%
of respondents rated Iskandar
Malaysia as “Almost as good as
the best” compared to the
previous year. All five categories
of Live, Work, Play, Care and
Learn recorded at least 20%
improvement in satisfaction
levels from the previous year.
However, some feedback were
noted as follows:

a.

Brand Recognition Survey (BRS), as
a successor to the Average
Awareness Level (AAL) Survey of
previous years;

o

More lifestyle infrastructure
is needed as well as better
and more security and safety
measures;

b.

Service Quality Index (SQI), to
assess the level of service delivery
by IRDA personnel to external
stakeholders; and

o

Need to attract further local
and foreign investments
and improve public
transportation; and

c.

Quality of Life Survey (QLS), which
started in 2014 to set parameters
for the measurement of the standard
of living in Iskandar Malaysia.

o

More job opportunities,
affordable housing, clean and
eco-friendly environment and
educational facilities.

Iskandar Malaysia Communications
Council (IMCC)
A one-day meeting was organised on
28 May 2015 to introduce the IMCC
which consist of our key partners and
stakeholders from both the public and
private sectors to enable them to
understand the importance of this
information-sharing platform in creating
communications that are consistent and
coordinated.

•

The surveys revealed the following:
•

BRS - indicated an urgent need
to look into investors’ feedback
collected through this study, in
order to capitalise on the 10%
increase in their likelihood to
invest in Iskandar Malaysia (80%
in 2015, compared with 70% in
2014).
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Iskandar Malaysia Information
Centre (IMIC)
At the end of 2015, the IMIC located at
the Danga Bay Convention Centre was
officially closed. This was part of IRDA’s
overall strategy and in line with IRDA’s
relocation of its office to a new building
in approximately two years.
Functional assets and inventories were
auctioned off, with the balance stored
away for future use or disposal. The Call
Centre was also discontinued, with all
telephone enquiries directed to our
general line where the receptionist would
channel enquiries to Strategic
Communications or the relevant divisions
in IRDA. Email enquiries are now handled
by the Stakeholders Management Unit of
Strategic Communications.
A temporary, scaled-down setup of
the IMIC is now located at the waiting
area of IRDA’s main office, next to the
reception on the ground level.

Continuous Branding Initiatives
To continue branding Iskandar Malaysia
globally as the first choice to Invest, Work,
Live and Play, Iskandar Malaysia had within
the year introduced a new holographic
scale model. In addition, Iskandar Malaysia
was also featured in the Malaysian
International Chamber of Commerce &
Industry (MICCI)’s Business Advocate, the
Bloomberg Markets Magazine, and the MIM
Management Magazine.
On the domestic front, advertisements
were also strategically placed in
magazines like Focus Malaysia, Malaysian
Business, as well as ACE magazine, an
SME-focused magazine by SME Bank.
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A total of 32 events were organised in
2015 by IRDA with assistance from
external stakeholders. IRDA was also
involved in various Memorandum of
Understanding (MoUs). These MoUs
have helped IRDA connect with
thousands of individuals, both local and
foreign, and created opportunities to
forge bankable relationships that could
propel Iskandar Malaysia’s brand to
another level.

Iskandar Malaysia making waves in
New Media
Throughout 2015, information on
Iskandar Malaysia was actively disseminated
across all our digital and social media
platforms in an effort to create a strong
branding for Iskandar Malaysia.
The content was focused on Low
Carbon Society, Smart and Healthy
Communities, Public Transportation,
and the rolling out of the CDPii. The
usage of such informal media proved
successful in increasing our engagement
with the community, especially through
special campaigns to get followers to
connect with us.

Iskandar Malaysia Receives High
Media Exposure
In 2015, Iskandar Malaysia continued
to garner strong media coverage in both
the traditional print and electronic
media, yielding a public relations value
of RM79.1 million.
In a concerted effort to promote
Iskandar Malaysia both domestically and
internationally, IRDA undertook a series
of active media engagements to create
sustainable positive media coverage.
Messages disseminated during such
engagements touched on the progress of
Iskandar Malaysia, as well as the
development’s outcomes and benefits to
the community to create greater
awareness of Iskandar Malaysia while
calling for greater participation from the
business, investor, and local communities.

At the end of 2015, the Iskandar
Malaysia Official Facebook page had
over 52,000 followers. More efforts will
be rolled out in 2016 on Facebook and
other social media platforms like
Instagram, Twitter, and YouTube to
further increase engagement and
improve information dissemination.
The Iskandar Malaysia and IRDA
websites are also being revamped to
feature a more contemporary look by
positioning Iskandar Malaysia as a
lifestyle destination. This exercise is
expected to be completed by quarter
one of 2016.
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Driving Delivery
Excellence
To provide effective and efficient public service, and world-class infrastructure, both
soft and hard, to benefit the Rakyat and businesses.
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SME Outreach 2015

Iskandar Youth Business Eco-system Seminar

Engagements with the relevant
authorities featured prominently on IRDA’s
calendar to not just finalise the applicable
incentives for qualified investors (including
the 15% Tax Rate Scheme for Knowledge
Workers), but also to solidify its role as
the focal point for all incentive-related
matters. As a result, the total number of
approved companies in Medini from
October 2007 to December 2015 stood at
45, while the cumulative count of
knowledge workers approved in that
period registered at a healthy 747.

effective joint multi-agency enforcement.
Since 2011, the task force has to date
monitored 22 development projects and
has created awareness among project
proponents to adopt active selfmonitoring and regulation of their subdevelopers with assistance from the
relevant agencies and authorities. This
task force has also been acknowledged
as the most active in Malaysia with
tangible results produced that are used
by local authorities for their STAR Rating
assessment.

Ops Lumpur Iskandar Malaysia

Iskandar Malaysia Urban Observatory
(IMUO)

IRDA piloted the IM Ops Lumpur Task
Force under the Drainage and Stormwater
Management Blueprint in 2010 and
Earthwork Management Blueprint in
2011 in support of the Majlis Sumber Air
Negeri Johor initiative chaired by the
Menteri Besar. This task force was
formed with the intention to ensure the
relevant developers comply with the
Erosion Sedimentation Control Plan
submitted, so that earthworks for
projects can be contained and pose
minimal disturbances to the surroundings.
The task force has been active in
convening consultations with major
developers and has since evolved into a
mainstay feature of Iskandar Malaysia,
proving to be a prime example of an
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IMUO is envisioned to produce,
manage, and analyse data on the
performance of Iskandar Malaysia on
key urban indicators and other thematic
issues relevant to local decision-making
and global monitoring. Thus, IMUO will
formalise data sharing between federal
and state authorities, government-linked
companies, and the community to create
an informed society. At the planning
stage, a project on the “Urban
Observatory Framework for Iskandar
Malaysia” has been carried out which is
a collaboration between IRDA, the
United Nations Development Programme
(UNDP) and the Malaysian Administrative
Modernisation and Management
Planning Unit (MAMPU) that will provide

The total number
of approved
companies
in Medini from October
2007 to December 2015 stood
at 45, while the cumulative
count of knowledge workers
approved in that period
registered at a healthy 747

a framework featuring a comprehensive
situation analysis, implementation
strategies, as well as required policies
and action plans.
This proposed initiative under IMUO is
in line with the Smart City Iskandar
Malaysia initiative under the dimension
of Smart Governance, where online
information on Iskandar Malaysia will be
made available as a platform for public
participation. Indeed, IMUO shall be the
core enabler in ensuring the resiliency
and sustainability by providing reliable
and up-to-date information on key
sectors of the city that will assist in its
proper management through research,
analysis, and monitoring.
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IMUO SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM

Stages

2016 - 2018

2017 - 2020

Development
of IMUO
Business Plan

Development of
IMUO Data
Centre,
Systems and
Applications

The urban observatory encompasses
the following:
1.

Development of Business Plan
which will serve as a blueprint and
main document to obtain mandate
and resources;

2.

Development of IMUO Data, Systems
and Applications will include:
•

Data Landscape Review for
Iskandar Malaysia;

•

Data Management Policy and
System;

•

Preliminary Data Collection; and

•

Data Centre and Infrastructure.

3.

4.
5.

Building Co-Ownership of the IMUO
will include:
•

International benchmarking;

•

Shared performance targets; and

•

Regional planning and development.
Develop and Operationalised Data
Centre; and
Development of Technical Services.

IMUO’s various benefits are anticipated
to accrue to all sections of society. In
particular, (i) the government benefits
from easier access to information that
can improve policymaking efforts, (ii)
businesses can make better decisions on
their investment allocations in Iskandar
Malaysia, and (iii) the community can be

2017 - 2019

2021 - 2022

Building Coownership of the
IMUO

Development and
Operationalisation
of Data Centre

2023 - 2025
Development of
Technical
Services

better informed on the city’s governance
and take greater ownership of Iskandar
Malaysia’s sustainability.

policies to contain any potential social
demographic change and security issues
in the vicinity.

Study on Foreign Ownership &
International Zone

IM171

The immense foreign interest in Iskandar
Malaysia has caused rapid waterfront
development along Iskandar Malaysia’s
coastline, where major land reclamation
activities preceded the construction of
high-end properties and real estate
targeting largely foreign buyers.
IRDA had conducted several scenarioplanning exercises to discuss the impact
of these developments and identify the
terms of reference for the study of an
international zone. The Johor State
Government also recognised the need
for such a study, and in May 2015 invited
IRDA to provide technical advice based
on its scenario-planning exercises to
the Johor Economic Planning Unit
(UPENJ) and the Johor Town and
Country Planning Department (JPBD) to
facilitate the production of their study
called “Johor Strait Development
Corridor Master Plan Study”. This study
focused on planning aspects (e.g.
utilities, natural environment, and
transportation) of reclaimed areas and
proposed for an international zone along
the coastline that included discussions
on boundaries, criteria, and basic
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As Iskandar Malaysia is a development
region comprising five distinct local
authorities, its rapid development
necessitates the formation of a holistic
strategic planning and compliance
framework to ensure the quality of its
future community’s life will not be
compromised by the blazing speed of
economic development. Indeed, a review
of agency operations within Iskandar
Malaysia revealed that (i) some new and
unique policies and guidelines were not
properly aligned between agencies, (ii)
competition was rife for the same
investors and types of development, and
(iii) trans-boundary issues (e.g. river
pollution) were difficult to resolve without
effective liaisons with other agencies.
Therefore, IM171 was mooted as a
high-level platform for local authorities
and government agencies (including
IRDA) to openly and collectively discuss
Iskandar Malaysia’s way forward and
effective adoption of Iskandar Malaysia
blueprints and guidelines. Hence, this
platform, made up of the five local
authorities, IRDA, UPENJ, JPBD and the
SUKKT was formed to attain the
following benefits: (i) seamless

pg 064

Various topics have been put to the
IM171 table for discussion since it was
first formed in 2013, including serviced
apartments’ points of conflict, the
requirement for social impact
assessments, development pressures
along the coastlines, and in 2015, the
proposal for bicycle lanes in the vicinity.
IM171 strengthens IRDA’s role as the
principal coordinator of Iskandar
Malaysia and functions as an invaluable
mechanism to roll out the plans and
initiatives outlined in the CDPii.

Chart: Smart City Progress Update

Smary City Iskandar Malaysia
Progress Update as of
31st December 2015
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coordination of agencies, especially the
planning agencies, at the earliest stage
of any plan, (ii) uniformity of perspective
between agencies, and (iii) timely and
comprehensive discussions of pertinent
issues by all agencies involved.
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Making Iskandar Malaysia a Smart City
Within three years of declaring
Iskandar Malaysia as pilot for all Smart
City projects in Malaysia, IRDA received
enthusiastic feedback from parties
interested to realise this goal together.
Indeed, providing a critical boost was
the 11th Malaysia Plan 2016-2020 that
acknowledged the need for smart city
developments focusing on infrastructure
strengthening to support future growth
and quality of life.
A total of 80 projects had been
declared from 35 identified programmes
under Smart City Iskandar Malaysia
since its launching until December 2015.
The following illustrations reveal the
overall progress of the projects and
breakdown of project status.
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0

Economy
Completed

Environment
On-Going

Social
Yet to
commence

0

Total

Table: Smart City Performance Update
PERCENTAGE OF
SMART CITY
DEVELOPMENT

PROGRESS

REMARKS

48.75%

Completed

Projects are within IRDA purview.

26.25%

On-going

Projects are currently:
✓ On-going; or
✓ Being implemented in phases; or
✓ At initiation stage.

25%

Yet to commence

Projects involving policies and
guidelines, unavailability of budget, and
require close collaboration with other
parties.
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Some quick wins had been produced in 2015 among the 35 programmes that had been identified, including:

Launching of Electric Vehicles

Integrated Water Treatment Plant

District cooling system for Kota Iskandar

Building Efficiency

Several projects are in the pipeline,
such as the Iskandar Malaysia 2nd
Malaysia ICT Hub, a collaborative effort
of IRDA and the Malaysia Digital
Economy Corporation (MDEC) scheduled
for announcement in the second half of
2016. IRDA has also identified the
pressing need to have its own platform
to store and analyse data, besides
serving as a focal point for urban
monitoring at the local, national, and
regional levels to facilitate scenario
planning and decision making.

Iskandar Malaysia has also been
recognised as one of the world’s 10
cities/regions to take part in the United
Nations Sustainable Energy For All
(SE4ALL) programmes as announced at
the Climate Summit 2014 in New York,
US. Two agendas figured prominently in
this initiative, i.e. Building Efficiency
Agenda, and District Energy.
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The key goal for Iskandar Malaysia with regards to realising the outcome of “Smart Healthy City and Communities” is to
create liveable communities that are active, comprehensive, safe, well-managed, environmentally friendly, and easy to do
business in as authorities practice good governance in their affairs. With this in mind, IRDA entered into a number of
collaborations with agencies, private-sector institutions, and NGOs to make this outcome possible. The following events bear
testimony to some of IRDA’s efforts in the year:

Smart Healthy City Ride

RAMSAR Eco Ride

More such Smart City initiatives will
be announced in 2016.

Process Improvements for Greater
Delivery Efficiencies
IRDA continually engages with our
stakeholders to ensure maximum
awareness of all our new and existing
processes. In 2015, IRDA introduced
several new processes to further
improve on our delivery efficiencies.
The Charges to Unit Peneraju Agenda
Bumiputera (TERAJU) initiative involved
implementing reasonable charges for
the independent project consultant
services rendered by IRDA to TERAJU
based on the efforts and level of human
resources supplied to support the
TERAJU projects, whilst ensuring that
the charges do not exceed the caps (in
accordance with the Qualifying Project
Cost (QPC)) provided by TERAJU’s
approved Terms of Reference.
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JB Car Free Day

In ensuring the effectiveness of the
Investment Committee (IC, i.e. an
internal committee that provides a
platform to review, deliberate and make
decisions on investments to be facilitated
by IRDA from economic, environment
and social aspects) and to enable issues
related to investments in Iskandar
Malaysia to be escalated, our Economics
& Intelligence (EI) and Iskandar Service
Centre (ISC) divisions were roped in to
contribute their insights for the
development of the Account Manager
(AM) role, which is currently a work-inprogress. This AM role focuses on being
an efficient single point of contact for

significant investors and stakeholders,
and establishing a central database for
the usage of all IRDA staffs. This AM
role will facilitate the decision-making
process at the IC level, as all information
on specific proposed investments can be
effectively procured from this person.
Several documentation enhancements
were executed in the year to improve
ease of use. We have simplified our
Matrix Management Assignment Sheet
by the Project Manager, our Auxiliary
Police (AP)-related forms, as well as
our Investor Profile Form (IPF) for the
IC members’ use.
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Developing People
for the Future
To train and ensure that a talented pool of workforce will be available to support
the economic development and market demands as well as promoting a first-class
mentality through innovation and knowledge empowerment.
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Iskandar Malaysia Flagship Scale Model

Talent Related Activities for
Iskandar Malaysia
IRDA organised the Technical and
Vocational Education and Training (TVET)
Employment Fair held at Renaissance
Hotel in Johor Bahru on 4 November 2015.
The event saw a huge turnout, with close
to 80 hiring companies conducting
interviews with over 2,000 candidates for
almost 2,000 vacancies.
IRDA also organised the Iskandar
Malaysia School Counsellor Summit 2015
on 19 November 2015 at the Johor State
Education Office, where 130 secondaryschool counselling teachers from all over
Iskandar Malaysia assembled to listen to
Marlborough College and University of
Reading practitioners share best practices
in their fields. Two local school counselling
teachers also shared their experiences
and success stories, while five teachers
were recognised as “Exemplary
Counselling Teachers of the Year”.
The Talent Development & Manpower in
Iskandar Malaysia Forum held on 18
August 2015 at the Singapore Business
Federation in Singapore’s Keppel Tower
was well attended by more than 80 existing
and potential investors from Singapore and
other countries. Speakers from Giat Mara,
the Ministry of Education, Yayasan
Pelajaran Johor, and the Human Resource
Development Fund touched on interesting
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topics relating to talent development
opportunities in Iskandar Malaysia.

Employee Rewards and Management
IRDA prides itself on its low attrition
rate of just 14.05% in 2015, as opposed
to the market’s turnover rate of 16.8%.
Our total manpower as at December
2015 stands at 186. The percentage of
employees resigning after serving for
less than two years is only 6% - decidedly
lower than the 36% in Malaysia.
IRDA conducts a yearly Employee
Engagement Survey to assess
employees’ perception of organisational
issues and readiness for change. This
initiative also provides IRDA with
quantifiable information on how our
employees’ views affect their
engagement with and effectiveness of
the organisation.

OUR TOTAL
MANPOWER
AS AT
DECEMBER
2015 STANDS
AT 186
The percentage of employees
resigning after serving for less
than two years is only 6% decidedly lower than the 36%
in Malaysia.

The Employee Engagement Index for
2015 stood at 85%, while the Shared Value
Index was at a commendable 79%. The
other measures of supervision, strategy,
direction and objectives, as well as
sustainable engagement showed highly
favourable scores, indicating overall
strong ties between employees and their
managers. This is a crucial element for
employee retention, apart from base pay
and career advancement opportunities.
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Learning & Development

c.

Internal trainings are conducted to
help employees improve their productivity
and attain their career goals.

d.

Effective Industrial Housekeeping (5S)

2.

Leader as Coach

3.

Business Writing Skills

4.

Writing Minutes & Meeting Notes

5.

Excel Intermediate

6.

Personal Data Protection Act (PDPA)

7.

Present Like Steve Jobs

8.

Transition to Management

IRDA employees attended a total of
311 external trainings in 2015, most of
which are job-related programmes to
enhance employees’ technical and
functional skills.

Employee Relations

e.

Visit to a battery factory located
at Kawasan Perindustrian
Executive took part in a casual
knowledge-sharing session
over lunch with IRDA staff.

2.

Seminar with the Internal Revenue
Board on proper e-filing methods

3.

Religious talks during the month
of Ramadhan

4.

Buka puasa with employees.

Team-Building Programmes
Team-building programmes were
held to engender employee appreciation
for IRDA’s five Core Values, i.e.
Engage, Envision, Enable, Integrity,
and International Standing.
In 2015, two Lego Serious Play
sessions were held, one for Culture
Champions to act as a role model to

were organised in an effort to promote

lead and promote IRDA’s Shared

healthy work-life balance among

Values among employees in October,

employees. Such activities include:

and another for IRDA employees in

Knowledge sharing with IRDA

November.

Chief Executive
a.

IRDA Act 664

b.

“Should I Stay or Go Away”, a

This Play has four objectives:
1.

Strategy Development and
Exploration – examine and evaluate
relations with external partners
and clients

2.

Organisational Development – to
drive IRDA to become a learning
organisation

talk on common dilemmas
faced by employees in
deciding whether to stay or
leave the company

Innovation and Product Development
– unleash creative thinking and
transform ideas into concrete
concepts

4.

Change management – facilitate
and implement structural changes
and mergers

Tampoi, where IRDA Chief

Various employee relations programmes

1.

3.

Iskandar Malaysia: The Untold
Story (part 2)

In line with the findings of our Training
Needs Analysis, we have developed and
conducted the following trainings to
cater to employees of all levels:
1.

Iskandar Malaysia: The Untold
Story (part 1)
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Internal Communication
Townhall meetings are a key internal
communication channel for employees
to get regular updates from the Chief
Executive on IRDA’s performance and
plans. One such meeting was held in
April to discuss the terms and conditions
of employment and other human
resource matters.

Johor Student Leaders Council
Continuing its success from previous
years, the search for Cohorts 6 and 7 of
the Johor Student Leaders Council
(JSLC) commenced in November 2015.
More than 500 nominations were
received and 300 Form 3 and Form 4
students were selected to undergo the
first and second rounds for selection
camp. The finalisation of the Top 20
students of each cohort was completed
in January 2016.
Several enhancements to this
programme were made within the year.
The State Education Department has
now expanded its implementation at the
district level, where each District
Education Office (PPD) is responsible for
the formation of the Student Leadership
Board (SLB) at all secondary schools in
Johor. The selected JSLC and alumni
will be imparting knowledge gained
from their training to the SLBs. Each
SLB is encouraged to organise their
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own leadership programmes with the
assistance of seed money incentives,
subject to the approval of the State
Education Department.
Additionally, students who have passed
the third level of the selection and
screening process to become part of the
Top 100 will now be able to attend some
of the domestic training and development
programmes that are similar to the Top
20. The JSLC Alumni is also very active
in organising various training programmes
for the nominated leaders and student
leaders at school level.

Johor Student Leaders Council

Awareness Before Change (ABC) and
Change Agents Programme
In 2015, 22 ABC (Mindset Change)
Programmes were conducted that
received rousing participation from
close to 1,900 participants which consist
of the rakyat. Over 120 Change Agents
were recruited through the Programme.
Existing Change Agents have also
conducted Change Agent Community
Programmes by sharing their knowledge
with the community.

3rd Johor International Student Leaders Conference @ KSL & Persada Convention Centre

The Lego Serious Play (LSP) Method
was run from September until December
2015. A total of 19 programmes were
conducted using this method, with
enhanced content featured in the
motivational and teamwork modules.
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Caring for Social and
Environment Sustainability
To ensure social balance and equitable distribution of wealth is balanced with practical
environmental management.
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Sungai Skudai Rejuvenation Roadmap
The rapid development of Iskandar
Malaysia necessitates a holistic integration
of various economic, social, and
environmental considerations to enable
the achievement of our vision to make
Iskandar Malaysia a sustainable metropolis
of international standing. This direction is
encapsulated in the Five Big Moves of our
Iskandar Malaysia CDPii.
Big Move 2: Greening Iskandar
Malaysia, “Key Project 2 – Living Water
Rejuvenation” aims to develop a blue
corridor plan to promote rehabilitation of
rivers and the marine ecosystem of
Iskandar Malaysia. This project covers
aspects of river cleaning and the creation
of river riparian corridors to increase the
green footprint and create additional
recreational spaces in the region.
To this end, the Sungai Skudai
Rejuvenation Roadmap was initiated
early 2015 to continue the Sungai Skudai
Blueprint (from JPS) with the goal to
improve Sungai Skudai into a sustainable
river that is free from solid waste,
industrial effluents, farming and
agricultural waste through integrated
enforcement from the relevant agencies
and the public. The roadmap outlined 13
strategies to enhance Sungai Skudai’s
water quality to Class III/Class II,
including providing a comprehensive
zoning map to tackle issues at the root.

Sungai Skudai Rejuvenation

Action Plan for Open Spaces and
Parks in Iskandar Malaysia, 2015 2025
The CDPii identified open spaces and
parks as part of the major green assets
in Iskandar Malaysia that need to be
protected and maintained to realise a
green corridor that serves as a reserve
for carbon sequestration, as well as a
location for public recreational activities.
As such, the Action Plan for Open
Spaces and Parks in Iskandar Malaysia
2015-2025 will be used as a planning
tool for the gazettement and guidance
for planning permission process,
development guide, as well as the
development planning and monitoring
system for local authorities and other
relevant stakeholders.
The Action Plan serves to:
1.

Provide a resilient framework for
the maintenance, management,

HAB was created for the youth of
Iskandar Malaysia as a platform to gather
and exchange ideas on volunteerism,
entrepreneurship, and lifesytle (including
recreational activities) for the youth.
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and gazettement process of open
spaces and parks.
2.

Prepare sustainable welfare
strategies for the various segments
of the population in Iskandar
Malaysia, including the disabled,
children, teenagers, aging persons,
and the international communities.

3.

Propose an international
development concept and design
guidelines for a sustainable
ecosystem of open spaces and
parks in Iskandar Malaysia.

Johor International Youth Hub
HAB was created for the youth of
Iskandar Malaysia as a platform to
gather and exchange ideas on
volunteerism, entrepreneurship, and
lifesytle (including recreational activities)
for the youth. True to its tagline “for
youth and by youth”, the youth in
Iskandar Malaysia participated actively
in the various stages of developing the
HAB, i.e. plan, design, build, manage
and sustain.
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PLAN

DESIGN

BUILD

MANAGE

SUSTAIN

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
•

Youth Lab in
Desaru (4-6
October 2013)
Voted component in
Facebook (January
- February 2014)
Engagement with
land owner
Voted Iskandar
Malaysia Youth
Council

•

•

•

Site analysis & site
study
Design Charrette 1
(component & site
planning)
Design Charrete 2
(finalise component
& site planning,
conceptual
of specific
components)
Comment &
feedback

•

•

•

Youth Hub launch
by MB on 15 August
2015
Volunteerism @
Hutan Bandar Johor
Bahru
Interior Design
Works for Ecology
Building at Hutan
Bandar Johor Bahru
Development of
New Component
for Local Youth Hub
at Hutan Bandar,
Johor Bahru

•

Iskandar Malaysia
Youth Council
(before completion
of physical
development)
Handover to HAB
Management
for Corporation
(after completion
of physical
development)

HAB Management
or Corporation
will manage
and sustain the
facilities provided
in the HAB once
the physical
development is
completed

Serving as a conduit to inculcate the government’s agenda in a casual and fun manner to meet the needs of the younger generation,
the HAB is composed of three tiers, which are differentiated by IRDA’s involvement and the leading authority at each tier.

MBJB Local Youth
Hub 10-15 acres

Neighbourhood
Youth Hub 2-5
acres

JOHOR
INTERNATIONAL
YOUTH HUB
(REGIONAL) 20
ACRES ABOVE

MPKu Local Youth
Hub 10-15 acres

Neighbourhood
Youth Hub 2-5
acres

MPPG Local Youth
Hub 10-15 acres

Neighbourhood
Youth Hub 2-5
acres

MPJBT Local Youth
Hub 10-15 acres
MDP Local Youth
Hub 10-15 acres

Neighbourhood
Youth Hub 2-5
acres

Neighbourhood
Youth Hub 2-5
acres
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The launch of the HAB took place in
August 2015 at Hutan Bandar in Johor
Bahru, where YAB Menteri Besar of
Johor Dato’ Mohamed Khaled Nordin
handed over a Certificate of Appreciation
to the strategic partners and platinum
sponsors of the HAB, namely the Johor
Bahru City Council, the Youth and Sports
Department of Johor, the Johor State
Education Department, Petite Outdoors,
Johor Bahru Boardsport, and Khazanah
Nasional Berhad.
Approximately 1,100 youths attended
this event that saw a registration of close
to 400 new members. The attendees took
part in a variety of events to promote
closer ties among youths, including
knowledge-sharing sessions, rock and
tree climbing, “artventure” digital art/
video screenings, artistic performances,
workshops, and demonstrations.
The HAB also achieved several
milestones in 2015, including the
appointment of the Iskandar Malaysia
Youth Council (IMYC) in the first quarter of
the year. IMYC members are youth chosen
from different social backgrounds to:
1.

Represent the youth in major
decisions and initiatives carried out
for the HAB;

2.

Represent the youth from various
backgrounds and specialisations
(e.g. business, academics, and
sports);

3.

Provide crucial input from a youth’s
perspective to facilitate wholesome
decision-making; and

4.

Provide advice on other matters
related to the HAB.
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Various events have been jointly
organised by IRDA, IMYC, and the youths,
including voluntary work and workshops
to obtain feedback from youth and
engender a sense of belonging among
the youth at the Local Youth Hub at
Hutan Bandar Johor Bahru. More such
initiatives will take place to maintain
open communication channels with the
youth in Iskandar Malaysia and Johor.

Iskandar Malaysia Sustainable
Energy (IMSE)
Iskandar Malaysia is dedicated to
reduce its greenhouse gas emission
intensity by 50% in 2025 from the level
recorded in 2005. This target and the 12
accompanying Actions were detailed in
the LCS Blueprint for Iskandar Malaysia
2025 launched in Doha, Qatar in 2012.
Iskandar Malaysia’s own Renewable
Energy and Energy Efficiency Blueprint
recommended that 12% of electricity
requirements (459MW) would be fulfilled
by renewable sources of energy by 2025,
while energy requirements can be
reduced by 24% (912MW) through Energy
Efficiency initiatives.
With these outcomes in mind, IRDA
developed the Iskandar Malaysia
Sustainable Energy initiative to integrate
all programmes derived from
Blueprints, such as the Renewable
Energy & Energy Efficiency Blueprint,
Electricity Blueprint, Low Carbon
Society Blueprint, and the CDPii to
form a comprehensive master plan.
This course of action was consistent
with Iskandar Malaysia’s status as one of
10 cities/regions chosen as pilot examples
for the “Global Energy Efficiency

Accelerator Platform” (GEEAP) of the
United Nations’ Sustainable Energy for All
(SE4ALL). At COP21 in Paris on 7
December, Iskandar Malaysia signed a
Statement of Intent to formally establish a
partnership between SE4ALL and IRDA to
support actions that produce significant
energy efficiency improvements in
selected sectors. IRDA then entered into
partnerships with the World Resource
Institute (for the Building Efficiency
Accelerator programme) and the United
Nations’ Environment Programme (for the
Global District Energy programme) to
speed up its adoption of best practices
and policies to achieve stellar energy
efficiency improvements.
IRDA has also collaborated with
various parties in working towards these
goals. Iskandar Malaysia signed a
Memorandum of Understanding with
Pacific Consultant Co. Ltd (PCKK) with a
potential to secure a grant from New
Energy and Industrial Technology
Development Organization (NEDO) for
the establishment of a district energy
system in Iskandar Malaysia. IRDA is
currently in negotiations with PCKK to
further collaborate in the Sustainable
Waste Management and Energy
Efficiency/Smart City Development for
Iskandar Malaysia.
In addition, IRDA has conducted
programmes like the Moving Energy
Efficiency Programme Forward and
Seminar on Passive Design for EnergyEfficient Buildings in Iskandar Malaysia
to educate professionals and the
government sector on the cruciality of
energy efficiency and promote increased
adoption of energy-saving measures.
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Moving Forward Energy
Efficiency Programme
in Iskandar Malaysia
Mutiara Hotel
1 December 2015

To help ensure the success of IMSE,
these three requirements were specified:
1.

Clear roadmap that integrates all
related programmes
•

2.

Details of all related programmes
will be specified in this roadmap,
complete with the timelines for
each programme

Measurement tools or Key
Performance Indices (KPIs)
•

Each programme will come with
measurement tools or KPIs to
aid the monitoring of the
programme’s achievements

3.

Efficient governance
•

A governance team will be set up,
comprising a Working Committee
and a Steering Committee to
oversee the execution of the
initiative - the Working Committee
evaluates all relevant proposals
with reference to Requests for
Proposal and decides on best
practices, whilst the Steering
Committee provides direction and
advice on amendments to policies,
guidelines or other matters
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IRDA is currently
exploring future
collaboration
with PCKK on 2
areas which are
Sustainable Waste
Management
and also Green
Efficiency/Smart
City Development for
Iskandar Malaysia.
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Steering Committee
Majlis Teknologi Hijau dan
Perubahan Iklim Johor
(MTHPIJ)

SUSTAINABLE

ENERGY FOR ALL

Iskandar Malaysia Sustainable
Energy Steering
Committee

UNDP
(Advisor)

Chairman
TKSU Energy Sector KeTHHA
IRDA/PEMANDU

SEDA

JPSPN

Energy
Commission

MGTC

MIGHT

UKAS

SPAN

DOE

UPENJ

Figure 1: Proposed Steering Committee for Iskandar Malaysia Sustainable Energy

Working Committee
Majlis Teknologi Hijau dan
Perubahan Iklim Johor
(MTHPIJ)

IM Sustainable Energy Working
Committee

UPENJ
(Director)
IRDA/UPENJ
(Secretariat)

SEDA

BAKAJ

JPSPN

TNB

SUK (Kerajaan
Tempatan) Johor

MIGHT

PPSPPA

DOE

UPENJ Infra /
Environment

Local
Authorities

Figure 2: Proposed Working Committee for Iskandar Malaysia Sustainable Energy
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Green Growth Initiatives
IRDA disseminates Green Economy
Guidelines that are incorporated in all
standard engagement tools for
prospective investors so that our stance
on environmental sustainability is clear
from the outset of our engagement. In
the same vein, IRDA has conducted a
MyCarbon outreach programme in
collaboration with the Ministry of
Natural Resources and Environment
(MNRE) to get more stakeholders to
take part in the national voluntary
carbon-reporting programme, and has
collaborated with the Energy
Commission, the Ministry of Energy,
Green Technology and Water, as well
as TNB Energy Services in conducting
the Moving Energy Efficiency
Programme Forward in Iskandar
Malaysia to target Energy Regulations
violators in Iskandar Malaysia.
Iskandar Malaysia’s international
status received another boost as the
Organisation for Economic Cooperation
and Development (OECD) has chosen it
as one of the pilot studies for its Green
Cities Programme called “Urban Green
Growth in Dynamic Asia”. This study is
done in partnership with IRDA, UPENJ,
the Johor Bahru City Council (MBJB),
the Johor Bahru Tengah Municipal

Council (MPJBT), the Pasir Gudang
Municipal Council (MPPG), and the Kulai
Municipal Council (MPKu).

Partnership (led by Perbadanan
Taman Negara Johor (PTNJ), and
Communication (led by Perbadanan
Taman Negara Johor (PTNJ).
Fourteen action plans were
produced from their deliberations.

Preservation Initiatives for Natural
Assets
a.

Ramsar Iskandar Malaysia Committee
The establishment of the Ramsar
Iskandar Malaysia Committee was
approved by the Johor State EXCO
in October 2015 to function as a
dedicated platform for sharing
information on Ramsar Sites. It
was first mooted by Johor’s Green
Technology and Climate Change
Council as there were too many
existing committees organised by
projects/areas/issues, complicating
the coordination of efforts for
Iskandar Malaysia.

b.

Updating of Environment Sensitive
Area Register
In the year, IRDA also updated the
Environment Sensitive Area (ESA)
Register, which aimed to standardise
the ESA ranking definitions and
classifications identified by various
agencies and blueprints. This
document review exercise showed a
consistency of records between the
ESA Register and the CDPii as well
as local plans.

c.

Environment Trust Fund
The CDPii’s proposal of an
Environment Trust Fund (ETF) as an
independent trust fund to be
incorporated under the IRDA Act (Act
664) Subsection 37A was acted upon
when IRDA conducted surveys with
state agencies to gather the required
information for the trust fund’s
framework. The survey revealed
several challenges and requirements
for the trust fund to be useful. In
2016, IRDA will be reviewing the
trust fund models of other countries
for suitability of piloting in Iskandar
Malaysia.

The Committee met several times
to discuss its structure, composition
of members and action plan.
YB Datuk Haji Ayub bin Rahmat
became the chair, with IRDA and
UPENJ as secretariat. Four working
committees were formed, i.e.
Conservation and Research (led by
J-Biotech), Enforcement and
Monitoring (led by Department of
Forestry, Johor), Cooperation and

d.

Boundary Demarcation at Sungai
Pulai Forest Reserve
It is the desire of the Iskandar
Development Regional Authority
(IRDA) in collaboration with the
state agency, Johor Forestry
Department to carry out the
boundary demarcation exercise for
Sg Pulai Forest Reserve due its lack
of distinctive markers on the ground
and as a means to pave the way to

Aerial View of RAMSAR
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Generasi Sihat & Hijau (GENSHI2015) @ Rumah Iskandar Malaysia

gazettement as a State Park under
the National Forestry Act (1984).
The demarcation work of 122.9km in
perimeter schedule to finish end of
2016.

reserve and maintain its listing as
a Ramsar site in Malaysia. The plan
aims to cover all aspects of
resources from within and
surrounding Sungai Pulai, capturing
its biodiversity, its utilisation by the
local communities and other
stakeholders, its potential for
nature tourism in Iskandar
Malaysia, and its interrelationship
and management options with
surrounding developments.

The boundary survey work will be
extremely beneficial to all parties
concerned as this will clarify the
actual boundary of Sungai Pulai
Forest Reserve. The last survey
carried out for the said area was in
1923 (reported by Forestry
Department Johor, for the setting
up the Forest Reserve) and there
has been several excision of said
forest reserve.
The boundary map will be followed
by the work to gazette said area as
a State Park under the National
Forestry Act (1984) through the
Land and Mines of Office and
published under the National
Gazette. This will assist IRDA in
supporting the Johor Forestry
Department in managing, protecting
and planning for resource utilisation
for the said area.
e.

Sungai Pulai Ramsar
Management Plan

Site

IRDA is working with the Johor
Forestry Department to develop a
site-specific management plan for
Sungai Pulai Ramsar to optimise
the multiple uses of the forest
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IRDA led a team of Johor agencies on
a technical visit to Sandakan to
understand how Sabah managed its
natural areas, as well as to network
with the Sabah Forestry Department
and other relevant stakeholders. Such
engagements will continue to receive
priority in 2016 given the importance
of the Ramsar Management Plan in
light of the ongoing developments
surrounding the site.

Green Lifestyle Initiatives
a.

Green Accord Initiative Award (GAIA)
IRDA kicked off the Green Accord
Initiative Award to recognise
organisations operating within
Iskandar Malaysia that have
contributed towards the adoption of
sustainable design, planning,
retrofitting, and operations in the
built environment.

b.

CASBEE Pilot Projects
The Comprehensive Assessment
System for Built Environment
Efficiency (CASBEE) is an
assessment tool to evaluate the
efficiency of our built environment.
Three categories have been created
under this system to accelerate
Iskandar Malaysia’s transition to a
low carbon society. Indeed, to
become a strong and sustainable
metropolis of international standing,
the development of cities,
neighbourhoods and buildings in
the region have to be energyefficient and done with minimal
impact on the ecosystem.
CASBEE is originally a Japanese
assessment framework that was
designed based on the concept of
environmental efficiency (or ecoefficiency) in terms of built
environment efficiency. CASBEE
takes into account the level of
quality within the targeted built
environment, while accounting for
environmental load outside the
targeted built environment. CASBEE
comprises a set of comprehensive
assessment tools designed to
evaluate different scales of built
environment performance, ranging
from a single building (CASBEE
Building) to a group of buildings
(CASBEE Urban Development) and
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the wider context of a city
environment (CASBEE City). Each
assessment tool has its own unique
system that utilises a specific
approach to assessment and
parameter measurement.
CASBEE has been successfully used
in 1,750 municipalities in Japan. It is
on this basis that CASBEE was
chosen as the standard assessment
tool to be used in Iskandar Malaysia.
However, for the assessment tool to
be relevant in the context of Iskandar
Malaysia, some of the assessment
criteria and parameters that were
initially designed for use in the
Japanese climate needed to be
tweaked to suit the tropical climate
and environment of Iskandar
Malaysia. The framework of the
CASBEE Pilot Project was designed
to address the customisation of the
Japanese CASBEE tool to ensure
successful implementation in
Iskandar Malaysia.
The CASBEE Pilot Project
newly adapted CASBEE
assessment tools on the
building, urban development,
1.

tested the
Iskandar
following
and cities:

CASBEE Iskandar Building
a. JST Connectors (M) Sdn Bhd
b. Heng Hiap Industries Sdn Bhd,
Pasir Gudang
c. JLand Tower, Komtar JBCC
d. Molek Pine 4, Taman Molek

2. CASBEE Iskandar Urban Development
a. Bandar Dato’ Onn, Johor Bahru
b. The Seeds, Taman Tanah Sutera,
Johor Bahru Tengah
3.

CASBEE Iskandar City
a. Johor Bahru
b. Johor Bahru Tengah
c. Kulai

Green Community Programmes
IRDA conducted two community
programmes in 2015, one at FELDA Taib
Andak, and another at Rumah Iskandar
Malaysia (RIM).
At RIM, an energy and water saving
competition for the residents was held.
This involved the collection of their
utility bills for six consecutive months,
and those with the most reduced usage
were granted prizes.
At FELDA Taib Andak, our low carbon
community programme promotes the
low carbon lifestyle in a village setting
by encouraging the practices of energy
saving, adoption of the 3Rs (Reduce,
Reuse, and Recycle), as well as creation
of green products. This low carbon
community is but one of several
strategies to guide the local communities
at FELDA Taib Andak on how to adopt a
low carbon way of life. The Low Carbon
Eco-Village programme was initiated by
Universiti Teknologi Malaysia, IRDA, and
the Japanese partners of the Science
and Technology Research Partnership
for Susta (SATREPS) project in 2012,
with several programmes carried out
that included composting, 3R awareness
and competition, planting of bamboo
trees, creation of pedestrian paths, and
cycling activities. The programme was
revisited in December 2014, with IRDA
securing the agreement of the FELDA
Taib Andak communities to carry out
new activities that were in line with
IRDA-initiated programmes’ new focus
on economic inclusiveness. This
inclusiveness was key to sustaining the
green lifestyle at FELDA Taib Andak.

Establishment of the Green Portal
The Green Portal is a one-stop centre
that provides the latest news and
information on green technology and
other green-related topics, strategies,
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policies, and guidelines on the natural
environment. The Portal also contains a
number of themes pertaining to the Low
Carbon Society Blueprint, notably under
Action 2 (Green Industry), Action 4
(Green Building and Construction),
Action 6 (Low Carbon Lifestyle), Action 7
(Community Engagement and Consensus
Building), Action 10 (Green and Blue
Infrastructure), Action 11 (Sustainable
Waste Management), and Action 12
(Clean Air Environment).
The Portal will not directly reduce
greenhouse gas emissions, but its indirect
impact could be significant when one
considers its ability to improve community
awareness of green issues and IRDA’s
aim to reduce carbon emissions within
Iskandar Malaysia.

Low Carbon Society
IRDA organised various events
throughout the year to highlight the
benefits of a low carbon society. Such
events include:
1.

Future City Initiative International
Forum on 8 February 2015.

2.

Launching of the Renault Zoe
Electric Car for IRDA with HRH
Sultan of Johor as the guest of
honour on 19 January 2015.

3.

Launching of Iskandar Malaysia EcoLife Challenge 2015 on 19 May 2015.

4.

Tree Planting during the Hutan Kita
@ Bandar Seri Alam on 23 May 2015.

5.

Healthy and Green Generation 2015
at Rumah Iskandar Malaysia on 23
May 2015.

6.

Kembara Mahkota Johor 2015
Daerah Kulaijaya – FELDA Taib
Andak (FTA Low Carbon Village
Exhibition) on 13 August 2015.
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7.

Low Carbon Asia Research Network
(LoCARNet) 4th Annual Meeting,
International Conference of Low
Carbon Asia on 11-13 October 2015.

8.

Iskandar Malaysia Ecolife Challenge
2015 Final Competition on 15
November 2015.

9.

Iskandar Malaysia’s participation in
the United Nations’ Framework
Convention on Climate Change,
Conference of the Parties 21
(COP21) in Paris in December 2015.

10. Launching of the Low Carbon
Society Action Plan for 5 Local
Authorities in Iskandar Malaysia
18th Members of Authority meeting
on 14 December 2015.

Low Carbon Society Roadmap for
Local Authorities
The Low Carbon Society Action Plan
2025 was established for the local
authorities Johor Bahru City Council,
Pasir Gudang Municipal Council, Kulai
Municipal Council, Johor Bahru Tengah
Municipal Council and Pontial Municipal
Council to help them recognise and
respond to economic, social, and
environmental factors unique to their
locality, whilst functioning as a
comprehensive framework for the pursuit
of sustainable green growth and resilient
development in Iskandar Malaysia.

University, with strong collaborations
from IRDA and the five local authorities.

Kawan Iskandar Malaysia
Kawan Iskandar Malaysia (KIM) is an
initiative that supports vulnerable groups
and communities affected by Iskandar
Malaysia's development via projects that
help them to generate income through
social enterprises and cooperatives.
This initiative comes under IRDA’s
Socioeconomic Mobility strategy that
encompasses 14 Mukims in Iskandar
Malaysia. Funding assistance (e.g.
microfinancing and grants for
infrastructure) is given from our Social
Projects Fund to cooperatives to drive
sustainable income-generating projects
for the community.
More than 8,000 people have benefited
directly from this initiative to date, with
cooperatives experiencing an average
income increase of 65.49% in the 20142015 period. Three infrastructure
projects had been completed for
Kampung Sungai Melayu, KongKong
Laut and Kampung Sinaran Baru,
helping increase the tourism potential of

these locations. Indeed, more than 8,000
visitors visited Kampung Sungai Melayu
and the KongKong Laut Eco Tourism
Project since their launch in Q4 2013.
Additionally, four cooperatives
commenced business, testifying to the
popularity of KIM as a social
empowerment initiative. A food court
being constructed under this initiative,
Medan Selera Iskandar Malaysia, is 50%
completed to date.

Koperasi Iskandar Malaysia Berhad
Koperasi Iskandar Malaysia Berhad
(imCoop) is a complete retail supply
chain business with a social mission to
moderate the growth in living costs,
enhance community bonding, and reduce
economic gaps via the provision of
business and career opportunities to
people from all walks of life.
Backed by the Johor State government
and guided by the philosophy to do well in
order to do good for the community,
imCoop is principally involved in the
opening of fair-priced retail outlets at
strategic locations throughout Iskandar
Malaysia. Over 80,000 cooperative

Renowned institutions participated in
the development of this plan, including
the Japan International Cooperation
Agency and the Japan Science
Technology Agency under the Science
and Technology Research Partnership
for Sustainable Development.
Researchers hailed from Universiti
Teknologi Malaysia (UTM), Kyoto
University, the National Institute for
Environmental Studies, and Okayama

Launching of imCoop
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Launch of Iskandar Malaysia Social Hero Awards 2015 @ Ponderosa Johor Bahru

members across the state currently enjoy
a 3% discount off their purchases made at
the imCoop outlets located in Larkin
Idaman, iPark, Kebayan, Pasir Gudang,
Paloh, and Setia Tropika.

DropCash Programme
DropCash Programme, launched on 3
August 2015 by the Johor Menteri Besar,
is an online youth entrepreneurship
development programme implemented by
IRDA’s strategic partner, Entrepreneur
Development Centre, to produce
successful online entrepreneurs who
would then expand into retail. This
programme, to take place in three phases
until 2018, has received participation from
1,000 participants who are mostly young
graduates and school leavers.
The first phase of training has been
completed, and sales figures have
hearteningly increased by between 10%
and 30%. Future efforts will be focused on
providing advisory and mentoring services
to ensure sustainability of this endeavour.

In support of the 11th Malaysia Plan’s
development aspirations, ILF 2015’s
objective was to help participants to think
out of the box towards becoming a
developed nation. More than 2,000 people
from all walks of life get to learn for free
from the over 20 learning and
development tracks.

Iskandar Malaysia Social Hero Awards
The Iskandar Malaysia Social Hero
Awards (IMSHA) was created to identify
and celebrate individuals, organisations
and groups who have made significant
contributions to society through
community service.
2015 marked the second year these
awards were given out to publicly thank
the community’s unsung heroes for the
inspirational work they do in Iskandar
Malaysia. Twelve individuals and nongovernmental organisations were
recognised for their efforts in various
pro-community initiatives.

Iskandar Malaysia Eco-Life Challenge
Iskandar Learning Festival
The Iskandar Learning Festival (ILF)
was organised by ILFPro, LifespaceAsia
and 20 joint social enterprises, as part of
the 4th ILF Series from 14 to 20
September 2015 to promote learning and
sharing of knowledge.

The Iskandar Malaysia Eco-Life
Challenge (IMELC) aims to raise awareness
on energy efficiency among students,
promoting sensitivity towards energy usage
and its conservation, and inculcating
energy-saving behaviour from young. As an
action specified under the LCS Blueprint,
IM E LC i s to u te d a s th e b i gge st
environmental education programme in
the country, with its secondary module to
be rolled out in 2016.
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The IMELC School Project is a primary
school-level team competition to help
create awareness and promote a low
carbon lifestyle. It focuses on household
energy accounting, where schoolchildren
are taught to track energy consumption,
waste generation and management,
transportation choices, and utilising
renewable energy resources.
IMELC has been expanded to cover all
228 primary schools in Iskandar Malaysia
from just 23 primary schools when it first
started in 2013.

Village Enhancement Programme:
Inclusive Iskandar
The Village Enhancement Programme
in Iskandar Malaysia is part of our
initiatives in Big Move 1, CDPii. It is an
effort to mainstreaming wealth sharing
through spatial development to achieve a
resilient and inclusive society in Iskandar
Malaysia.
The Big Move 1 : Inclusive Iskandar
Malaysia Workshop for Johor Bahru
Tengah and Pasir Gudang areas was held
on 23 – 24 August 2015. This workshop
was attended by various agencies,
including Johor Bahru Tengah Municipal
Council (MPJBT), Pasir Gudang Municipal
Council (MPPG), Department of Town and
Planning Johor (JPBD), Johor Economic
Planning Unit (UPENJ) and Johor Bahru
Land District Office. The objectives of the
workshop were to identify the priority
projects proposed under CDPii and gather
feeedback from various agencies.
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As a pilot project, IRDA visited Kampung
Pasir Gudang Baru and engaged with the
community to get an understanding of the
prevailing socioeconomic activities,
demographics, and other issues in its
surroundings be upgraded in terms of
facilities, infrastructure and economic
status of the villagers.

Havoc Hartanah Iskandar Malaysia
(HHIM)
Property awareness programme such
as Havoc Hartanah Iskandar Malaysia
(HHIM) are organised regularly to educate
the locals on the importance of property
ownership especially the youth.
HHIM was first held on 16-17 May 2015
at Iskandar Malaysia Information Centre,
Danga Bay. This programme targets
youths. Around 250 people attended this
seminar.
Due to the good response, the second
HHIM was held on 24-25 October 2015 at
Galeri Glulam in Johor Bahru. About 200
participants attended the programme to
get an understanding of Iskandar Malaysia’s
property demand and supply, potential
growth areas in the region for property

investment, and financial tips for property
ownership from a panel of experts.

Iskandar Malaysia Social Index
The Iskandar Malaysia Social Index
(IMSI) serves as a report card for Iskandar
Malaysia that summarises IRDA’s
progress on the social front.
The Index comprises of 12 dimensions,
which are:
–

Income and economic distribution

–

Education

–

Housing

–

Health

–

Environment

–

Security and safety

–

Communication, facilities and
transportation

–

Leisure arts and culture

–

Government governance

–

Family institution

–

Social and community participation

–

Unity and harmony between races.

Ninety-four indicators were initially
selected for incorporation in this Index but
were narrowed down to the above due to
limited data availability. The selection of
these indicators was done via many
rounds of discussion and engagement
with 26 partners from various government
agencies and was finalised in 2015 with
full buy-in from the data providers and
partners.
IRDA was rated “Fair” (63.64% out of
100%) on this Index and will utilise the
information gleaned from the study to
chart the way forward for Iskandar
Malaysia’s continued social development.

Aerial view of Rumah Iskandar Malaysia (RIM)
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

THE STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SETS OUT THE
FRAMEWORK AND PROCESS THROUGH WHICH THE MEMBERS
OF AUTHORITY AND THE MANAGEMENT OF ISKANDAR REGIONAL
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (IRDA) ENSURE INTEGRITY AND SOUND
OPERATIONAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN ACCORDANCE WITH
PREVAILING LAWS, RULES, REGULATIONS, BEST PRACTICES AND
ETHICAL BUSINESS CONDUCT.
THE MEMBERS OF AUTHORITY
The Members of Authority is the highest decision making body in IRDA and comprises eight members. It is co-chaired by the
Prime Minister of Malaysia and the Menteri Besar of Johor.
The Members of Authority are eminent individuals from the public and private sectors, who are appointed by virtue of Section
8(1) of the Iskandar Regional Development Authority Act 2007 (Act 664). They are committed to ensure IRDA practices the
highest standards of corporate governance, in keeping with the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance.
The Members of Authority provide strategic directions, reviews and approves policies and decisions for the development and
promotion of Iskandar Malaysia, ensure proper financial administration and human capital management and oversee the overall
management of IRDA.

THE MEMBERS OF AUTHORITY MEETING
The Members of Authority meeting was held in July and December in 2015. The details of the Members of Authority and their
attendance are as follows:

NAME

DESIGNATION

NO. OF MEETINGS
ATTENDED

YAB Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib bin Tun Abdul Razak

Co-Chairman

2/2

YAB Dato’ Mohamed Khaled bin Nordin

Co-Chairman

2/2

YBhg Tan Sri Dr. Mohd Irwan Serigar bin Abdullah

Member

2/2

YBhg Datuk Seri Dr. Rahamat Bivi binti Yusoff

Member

1/2

YBhg Dato’ Haji Ismail bin Karim

Member

2/2

Tuan Haji A. Rahim bin Haji Nin (Until middle of August 2015)

Member

1/1

Tuan Haji Salehuddin bin Hassan (Appointed on 16 August 2015)

Member

1/1

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Utama Nor Mohamed bin Yakcop

Member

2/2

YBhg Tan Sri Dato’ Liew Kee Sin

Member

2/2

YBhg Datuk Ismail bin Ibrahim

Secretary

2/2
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Annual Financial Review

In 2015, IRDA continued to work towards its long-term goals as it navigates the final year of its “Strengthening and Generating
Growth” phase (i.e. Phase 2 of the CDPii) whilst preparing itself to enter the final phase of the development in the following
year. This is evidenced by the development expenditures in Iskandar Malaysia, which were predominantly on infrastructure and
enablers to support and enhance the attractiveness of this region to both domestic and foreign investors.

Development Expenditures in 2015
(RM' Million)
9.80 2.47

IRDA's Development Expenditures Performance
592.7

23.87

608.5
56,84

7.02
10.22
1.80 5.50 1.30

RM ‘million

Road & Highways
300.6

Sewerage, Drainage & River
Transportation
Creative
113.7

131.0

113.7

112.6

118.8

70.1

2012

Safety & Security
Data Centre Infrastructure

4.0

2011

Public Housing

Tourism & Environment Preservations

2013

2014

2015

Others

Year
Grant

Expenditure

DETAILED FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Income & Expenditure Statement
In 2015, the excess of expenditure over income for IRDA increased further to RM6.01 million (2014: RM2.60 million) due to:
•

Carried-forward committed projects from previous years which were expensed in 2015 due to timing differences and
project implementation progress.

•

A reduction in operational government grant by a further 10% to RM44.94 million (2014: RM49.67 million). Included in this
operational government grant for 2015 is RM19.1 million transferred from the development fund, as approved by the
Ministry of Finance (MOF) on 14 July 2015.

•

A reduction in other income, primarily profit-sharing income, in line with the reduction in grant received.

Despite the deficit, IRDA was able to continue operating normally as the deficit was funded by the accumulated surplus
generated from previous years’ other income.
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Operating Expenditures Comparison

2015

70%

2014

65%

2013

58%

2012

59%

2011

63%

24%

5%

25%
26%

7%
10%

29%
28%

Staff Cost & Benefits

Administrative Expenses

Marketing & Promotions

Professional Consulting Fees

1%
3%
6%

8%
7%

4%
2%

As reflected above, the reduction in the government grant received has resulted in lower amounts spent on marketing and
promotions, as IRDA had to utilise more affordable means of promoting Iskandar Malaysia. Nevertheless, IRDA continued to
excel in realising the vision and mission of Iskandar Malaysia in accordance with the updated CDPii, as reflected by the
commendable balanced scorecard results achieved for the year.

Revenue
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Group registered a higher revenue of RM6.23 million (2014: RM5.88
million) on account of the rental income generated by its subsidiary, Prisma Harta Sdn Bhd (PHSB). The increase in PHSB’s
revenue was due to the yearly rental increment imposed on occupied units (1,036 units as at 31 December 2015), as well as an
improvement in PHSB’s credit management.

Other Income
One of IRDA’s long-term objectives is to be a self-sustaining organisation. This explains its drive to generate its own income.
In 2015, RM1.96 million was generated from a wide range of chargeable services, products and facilities provided by IRDA, such
as the comprehensive facilitation services offered by the one-stop Iskandar Service Centre, hall rentals, publications, as well as
sponsorships from strategic partners. This amount represents 61% of total other income.
Other contributors to this form of income were management fees, tender fees, and profit-sharing income from the Islamic
banking investment (in the form of Repurchase Agreements and Fixed Deposits), bringing total other income for 2015 to RM3.24
million (2014: RM6.93 million).
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Operating Expenditure
Employee-related costs remained as IRDA’s biggest operational expenditure item in 2015 at RM38.06 million, representing
70% of total operating expenditure.
However, overall operating expenditure decreased by 8% from the previous year on the back of the following:
i.

Continued pursuit of austerity measures through the close monitoring of established budgets and prudent spending.
The austerity measures focused on:
1. Enhancing the cost effectiveness of official travel by leveraging on cost-effective methods of booking and travelling, like
advance online bookings and carpooling;
2. Consolidating event management resources, with dedicated persons-in-charge to lead the establishment of strategic
marketing collaborations and procurement of sponsorships for IRDA-led events;
3. Economising on food and beverages served at meetings; and
4. Optimising the usage of IRDA’s facilities like meeting rooms and halls for focus-group discussions and events.
IRDA’s prudent cost management successfully yielded a 39% reduction in accommodation and travelling costs to RM1.71
million (2014: RM2.79 million).

ii.

iii.

A reduction in promotional costs by 33% to RM2.90 million (2014: RM4.34 million), in line with IRDA’s enhanced strategic
marketing approach that focuses on:
•

Establishing targeted promotional activities to attract foreign investment into the nine promoted sectors of Iskandar
Malaysia; and

•

Collaborating with strategic partners through cost-sharing arrangements for participation in international trade
missions and events to promote Iskandar Malaysia on the global stage.

A significant decrease in professional consultation fees by 58% to RM0.78 million (2014: RM1.84 million). This was because
in 2015, IRDA’s professional fees were mainly on necessity services such as outsourcing of ICT services, review/audit of
IRDA’s balanced scorecard achievement, and implementation of employee engagement surveys, aside from the yearly
maintenance of IRDA’s existing systems.

Share of Equity Losses in Associate Company
As at 31 December 2015, no further equity losses on IRDA’s shares in associate company IMSEC Sdn Bhd were recognised
in the Group Financial Statements, as the accumulated losses had exceeded the amount invested. This practice is in accordance
with the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board.
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Balance Sheet
Fixed assets decreased by 37% due to the annual depreciation of RM0.61 million (2014: RM0.68 million). There were no major
asset purchases during the year as IRDA had continued with its prudent drive of limiting its capital expenditure to replacements
and improvements only.
The investment in subsidiaries category accounts for the newly acquired subsidiary My Iskandar Sdn Bhd (MISB) wholly owned
by IRDA with a total shareholding of 100% from the total issued paid-up capital of RM2.00. This company is presently dormant.
Included in receivables, deposits and prepayments are IRDA’s share of the costs of promotional activities held in collaboration
with strategic partners in Iskandar Malaysia. This amount is contingent on IRDA’s degree of participation in such activities. The
various deposits for the infrastructure and enabler projects under the Ninth and Tenth Malaysia Plans form another major item
in this category.
A significant portion of cash and cash equivalents was for the Special Development Fund largely reserved for contractual
obligations under the Tenth Malaysia Plan projects, Social Project initiatives, Corridors & Cities projects, Creative Industry Talent
Development Programmes and National Talent Enhancement Programme (NTEP).
Amount owing from subsidiaries mainly comprises expenses paid by IRDA on behalf of subsidiaries, which have been settled
in full by said subsidiaries subsequent to the balance sheet date.
Payables and accruals consists of contractual obligations under the operating fund that have been settled after the year end,
as well as contractual obligations under the Special Development Fund mainly due to the retention sum on progress payment
for the Tenth Malaysia Plan projects, such as the Safety & Security Initiatives (installation of closed-circuit television cameras),
construction of the Pandan Bridge, Sungai Segget river revitalisation, as well as infrastructure works for the Data Centre in
Sedenak.
The Special Development Fund is mainly reserved for contractual obligations under the Tenth Malaysia Plan projects, Corridors
& Cities projects, Creative Industry Talent Development Programmes and NTEP.
The Social Project Fund is to be utilised in accordance with the social projects approved by the Social Development Committee,
consistent with the strategies and initiatives stated in the CDPii.
The Facilitation Fund, funded by and managed on behalf of the Federal Government through TERAJU@Iskandar Malaysia,
supports qualified Bumiputera companies in their pursuit of viable projects through the provision of facilitation funds (Dana
Mudahcara) and the implementation of the High-Performing Bumiputera Companies (TeraS) Programme.
The Johor International Youth Hub Fund is managed on behalf of the youth in Iskandar Malaysia and is earmarked to support
initiatives related to the implementation of the Youth Hub project. Contributions to this fund originate from strategic investors
in Iskandar Malaysia.
The Entrepreneur Fund, funded by and managed on behalf of the Federal Government through TERAJU@Iskandar Malaysia,
is to be used to support Micro Entrepreneur Bumiputera Development programmes to develop Bumiputera entrepreneurs in the
state of Johor in accordance with specified criteria.
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STATEMENT BY THE MEMBERS
O F IS KANDAR R EG IO NAL DEVELOPMENT AU THORITY

We, Y.A.B. DATO' MOHAMED KHALED BIN NORDIN and Y.BHG. TAN SRI DATO' NOR MOHAMED YAKCOP, being two of the
Members of ISKANDAR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY state that, in the opinion of the Members, the accompanying
Financial Statements which comprise the Balance Sheet, Income Statements, Statement of Changes in Equity and Cash Flow
Statement together with the notes thereto, are properly drawn up as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
lSKANDAR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY at 31 December 2015 and of its operating results and cash flows for the year
ended on that date.

On behalf of the Members,

NAME
POSITION
DATE
PLACE

Y.A.B. DATO' MOHAMED KHALED BIN NORDIN
CO-CHAIRMAN
08 JUNE 2016
JOHOR BAHRU

NAME
POSITION
DATE
PLACE

Y.BHG. TAN SRI DATO' NOR MOHAMED YAKCOP
MEMBER
08 JUNE 2016
JOHOR BAHRU
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STATUTORY DECLARATION BY THE OFFICERS PRIMARILY RESPONSIBLE
F O R T HE FINANC I AL MANAGEMENT OF ISKANDA R RE GI O N A L D E VE L O P ME N T A U T H O RI T Y

We, DATUK ISMAIL BIN IBRAHIM and NOR HISHAM BIN MOHD YUSOF, the officers primarily responsible for the accounting
records and financial management of ISKANDAR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, do solemnly and sincerely declare
that the accompanying Balance Sheet, Income Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and Cash Flow Statement together
with the notes thereto are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, correct and we make this solemn declaration conscientiously
believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declaration Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named at Johor Bahru on this 19 April 2016

DATUK ISMAIL BIN IBRAHIM

NOR HISHAM BIN MOHD YUSOF

(590508-01-6189)

(681102-10-5089)

Before me:

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS
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BALANCE SHEETS
AS AT 3 1 DEC EMB ER 2015

Note
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in associate

Current Assets
Receivables, deposits and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents
Amount owing from subsidiaries

Current Liabilities
Payables and accruals
Amount owing to subsidiaries
Amount owing to associate

3
4
5

6
7
8

9
8
8

Net Current Assets

Represented by:
Operating Fund
Special Development Fund
Social Projects Fund
Facilitation Fund
Johor International Youth Hub Fund
Entrepreneurship Fund

10
11
12
13
14

GROUP
2015
RM

IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

1,186,891
–
–

1,610,281
–
–

885,483
1,000,003
160,603

1,417,955
1,000,001
160,603

1,186,891

1,610,281

2,046,089

2,578,559

4,094,645
420,068,590
1,918

4,581,192
502,357,935
–

3,067,809
412,474,681
383,822

3,758,955
496,871,929
88,642

424,165,153

506,939,127

415,926,312

500,719,526

87,283,274
–
25,668

185,163,552
–
78,309

84,690,371
314,395
25,668

183,142,480
–
78,309

87,308,942

185,241,861

85,030,434

183,220,789

336,856,211

321,697,266

330,895,878

317,498,737

338,043,102

323,307,547

332,941,967

320,077,296

28,888,493
210,637,128
42,534,041
36,031,891
4,951,564
14,999,985

33,026,401
223,324,532
50,406,896
11,544,476
5,005,242
–

23,787,358
210,637,128
42,534,041
36,031,891
4,951,564
14,999,985

29,796,150
223,324,532
50,406,896
11,544,476
5,005,242
–

338,043,102

323,307,547

332,941,967

320,077,296

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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INCOME STATEMENTS
F O R T HE Y EAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note

GROUP
2015
RM

IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

Government grants
Revenue
Other income

15
16
17

44,935,500
6,227,423
3,627,656

49,671,000
5,884,291
7,082,294

44,935,500
–
3,242,559

49,671,000
–
6,929,489

Operating expenses

18

54,790,579
(58,928,487)

62,637,585
(62,745,421)

48,178,059
(54,186,851)

56,600,489
(59,200,814)

Share of equity losses of an associate

19

(4,137,908)
–

(107,836)
(160,603)

(6,008,792)
–

(2,600,325)
–

(4,137,908)

(268,439)

(6,008,792)

(2,600,325)

Deficit for the financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS of changes in equity
F O R THE Y EAR ENDE D 31 DECEMBER 2015

Group

Special
Operating Development
Fund
Fund
RM
RM

Social
Projects
Fund
RM

Johor
International
Facilitation
Youth Hub
Fund
Fund
RM
RM

Entrepreneurship
Fund
RM

Total
RM

At 31 December 2013
Development grant received from
Government
Creative grant received from
Government
Facilitation fund received from
Government
Youth Hub fund received from
Khazanah
Utilisation of development grant
Utilisation of NTEP grant
Utilisation of Social Projects fund
Utilisation of Facilitation Fund
Interest income
Divestment of subsidiary to
associate
Deficit for the financial year

33,196,383
–

275,258,712
70,230,000

49,225,634
–

10,321,950
–

–
–

–
–

368,002,679
70,230,000

–

468,000

–

–

–

–

468,000

–

–

–

20,000,000

–

–

20,000,000

–

–

–

–

5,000,000

–

5,000,000

–
–
–
–
–
98,457

(130,996,379)
(45,893)
–
–
8,410,092
–

–
–
(344,143)
–
1,525,405
–

–
–
–
(19,115,364)
337,890
–

–
–
–
–
5,242
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

(130,996,379)
(45,893)
(344,143)
(19,115,364)
10,278,629
98,457

(268,439)

–

–

–

–

–

(268,439)

At 31 December 2014

33,026,401

223,324,532

50,406,896

11,544,476

5,005,242

–

323,307,547

–

112,600,000

–

–

–

–

112,600,000

–

–

–

32,000,000

–

–

32,000,000

–

–

–

–

–

15,000,000

15,000,000

–
–

(116,960,412)
(19,100,000)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(116,960,412)
(19,100,000)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(4,137,908)

(564,292)
(1,295,791)
–
–
–
–
12,633,091
–

–
–
(9,456,121)
–
–
–
1,583,266
–

–
–
–
(8,070,420)
–
–
557,836
–

–
–
–
–
(208,405)
–
154,727
–

–
–
–
–
–
(15)
–
–

(564,292)
(1,295,791)
(9,456,121)
(8,070,420)
(208,405)
(15)
14,928,920
(4,137,908)

28,888,493

210,637,128

42,534,041

36,031,891

4,951,564

14,999,985

338,043,102

Development grant received from
Government
Facilitation fund received from
Government
Entrepreneurship fund received
from Government
Utilisation of development grant
Development grant transferred to
Operating Fund
Utilisation of NTEP grant
Utilisation of creative grant
Utilisation of Social Projects fund
Utilisation of Facilitation fund
Utilisation of Youth Hub Fund
Utilisation of Entrepreneurship fund
Interest income
Deficit for the financial year
At 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS of changes in equity (continued)
F O R T HE Y EAR EN DED 31 DECEMBER 2015

IRDA

Special
Operating Development
Fund
Fund
RM
RM

Social
Projects
Fund
RM

Johor
International
Facilitation
Youth Hub
Fund
Fund
RM
RM

Entrepreneurship
Fund
RM

Total
RM

At 31 December 2013
Development grant received from
Government
Creative grant received from
Government
Facilitation fund received from
Government
Youth Hub fund received from
Khazanah
Utilisation of development to grant
Utilisation of NTEP Grant
Utilisation of Social Projects fund
Utilisation of Facilitation Fund
Interest income
Deficit for the financial year

32,396,475

275,258,712

49,225,634

10,321,950

–

–

367,202,771

–

70,230,000

–

–

–

–

70,230,000

–

468,000

–

–

–

–

468,000

–

–

–

20,000,000

–

–

20,000,000

–
–
–
–
–
–
(2,600,325)

–
(130,996,379)
(45,893)
–
–
8,410,092
–

–
–
–
(344,143)
–
1,525,405
–

–
–
–
–
(19,115,364)
337,890
–

5,000,000
–
–
–
–
5,242
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

5,000,000
(130,996,379)
(45,893)
(344,143)
(19,115,364)
10,278,629
(2,600,325)

At 31 December 2014

29,796,150

223,324,532

50,406,896

11,544,476

5,005,242

–

320,077,296

–

112,600,000

–

–

–

–

112,600,000

–

–

–

32,000,000

–

–

32,000,000

–
–

–
(116,960,412)

–
–

–
–

–
-

15,000,000
–

15,000,000
(116,960,412)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(6,008,792)

(19,100,000)
(564,292)
(1,295,791)
–
–
–
–
12,633,091
–

–
–
–
(9,456,121)
–
–
–
1,583,266
–

–
–
–
–
(8,070,420)
–
–
557,836
–

–
–
–
–
–
(208,405)
–
154,727
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
(15)
–
–

(19,100,000)
(564,292)
(1,295,791)
(9,456,121)
(8,070,420)
(208,405)
(15)
14,928,920
(6,008,792)

23,787,358

210,637,128

42,534,041

36,031,891

4,951,564

14,999,985

332,941,967

Development grant received from
Government
Facilitation fund received from
Government
Entrepreneurship fund received
from Government
Utilisation of development grant
Development grant transferred to
Operating Fund
Utilisation of NTEP grant
Utilisation of creative grant
Utilisation of Social Projects fund
Utilisation of Facilitation fund
Utilisation of Youth Hub Fund
Utilisation of Entrepreneurship fund
Interest income
Deficit for the financial year
At 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
F O R THE Y EAR ENDE D 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note
CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Deficit for the financial year

GROUP
2015
RM

IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

(4,137,908)

(268,439)

709,010
15,048
–
240,168
35,332
–
(288,772)
–

740,568
(56,430)
(1)
35,332
12,818
168,960
(181,778)
160,603

(3,427,122)

611,633

(5,387,785)

(2,030,681)

(Decrease)/Increase in:
Special development fund
Social projects fund
Facilitation fund
Johar international youth hub fund
Entrepreneurship fund
Receivables, deposits and prepayments
Payables and accruals
Amount owing from inter-companies

(12,687,404)
(7,872,855)
24,487,415
(53,678)
14,999,985
499,819
(97,880,278)
(54,559)

(51,934,180)
1,181,262
1,222,526
5,005,242
–
(474,615)
52,936,298
23,726

(12,687,404)
(7,872,855)
24,487,415
(53,678)
14,999,985
691,146
(98,452,109)
(33,426)

(51,934,180)
1,181,262
1,222,526
5,005,242
–
(106,921)
52,469,062
3,432,209

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities

(81,988,677)

8,571,892

(84,308,711)

9,238,519

(301,404)
–

(412,265)
–

(89,271)
(2)

(305,152)
(999,999)

Adjustment for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Disposal/Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Transfer of assets
Allowance for doubtful debts
Bad debt written off
Discount allowed
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts
Share of equity losses of an associate

3

Surplus/(Deficit) before working capital changes:

CASH FLOW USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of shares in subsidiary
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

3

736

Net cash used in investing activities
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF
FINANCIAL YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
FINANCIAL YEAR

7

58,000

(6,008,792)

2014
RM

605,959
15,048
–
–
–
–
–
–

736

(2,600,325)
683,199
(113,554)
(1)
–
–
–
–
–

113,600

(300,668)

(354,265)

(88,537)

(1,191,551)

(82,289,345)

8,217,627

(84,397,248)

8,046,968

502,357,935

494,140,308

496,871,929

488,824,961

420,068,590

502,357,935

412,474,681

496,871,929

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3 1 DEC EM B ER 2 015

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
ISKANDAR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY ("IRDA") was established on 12th February 2007. The main activity of
IRDA is to act as the authority empowered to plan, promote, process, stimulate, facilitate and undertake the development
of lskandar Malaysia.
The principal activity of the subsidiary company is disclosed in Note 4.
The total number of employees of IRDA at year end was 138 (2014: 145).
The principal place of operation of IRDA is located at #G-01, Block 8, Danga Bay, Jalan Skudai, 80200 Johor Bahru, Malaysia.
The financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2015 was approved by the Members of Authority through a
Circular Resolution dated 8 June 2016.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies are adopted by IRDA and are consistent with applicable approved accounting standards
for private entities issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board ("MASB").
(a) Basis of Accounting
The financial statements of IRDA are prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements and in compliance with the provisions of the Iskandar Regional Development Authority Act, 2007
and applicable approved accounting standards for private entities in Malaysia.
(b) Basis of Consolidation
(i)

Subsidiary
The financial statement of subsidiary company is included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control effectively commences until the date that control effectively ceases. Subsidiary company is the
enterprise controlled by IRDA. Control exists when IRDA has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the
financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiary by IRDA. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair
value on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between IRDA and subsidiary are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment
indicator of the asset transferred.
Minority interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary attributable to
interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by IRDA.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiary to bring accounting policies into
line with those used by IRDA.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of Consolidation (continued)
(ii) Loss of control
Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, IRDA derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any noncontrolling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising
on the loss of control is recognised in profit and loss. If IRDA retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then
such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an
equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.
(iii) Associate
Associate company is the entity in which IRDA has significant influence, but no control over the financial and
operating policies.
Investment in associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method less any
impairment losses. The consolidated financial statements include IRDA's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the equity accounted associate, after adjustments if any, to align the accounting policies with
those of IRDA, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.
When IRDA's share of losses exceeds its interest in an asociate, the carrying amount of the interest including
any long-term investments is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that IRDA has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of associate to bring accounting policies into
line with those used by IRDA.
(c)

Income Recognition
Government Grants
Operating grants are recognised in the income statement when the rights to receive the grants are approved and the
grants will be received during the financial year.

(d) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment purchased at cost of RM5OO and below are expensed as incurred. The straight line
method is used to write off the cost of the property, plant and equipment over the term of their estimated useful lives
at the following principal annual rates:
Motor vehicles
Computers and mobile phones
Furniture and fittings, office equipment and renovation
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Receivables
Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable values. Bad debts are written off in the financial year in which they
are identified. An estimate is made for doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the financial
year end.

(f)

Taxation and Deferred Taxation
Current tax is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of dividend income pursuant to the tax
exemption obtained from the Ministry of Finance as mentioned in Note 21. It is measured using the tax rate that have
been enacted by the Inland Revenue Board at the balance sheet date.
No deferred taxation is recognised for the financial year due to the tax exemption.

(g) Other Payables
Other payables are stated at the amounts which the Authority is contracted or obligated to settle plus any incidental
legal expenses.

(h) Provision for Liabilities
Provision for liabilities is recognised when the Authority has a present legal and contractual obligation as a result of
past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at
each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

(i)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances, and deposit which are readily convertible to known
amount of cash and which are subjected to insignificant risk of change in value.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j)

Impairment of Assets
At each balance sheet date, the Authority reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the impairment is measured by comparing the recoverable
amount with the carrying amount of an asset and when the latter amount is higher, the asset is written down to the
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its net selling price and its value in use,
which is measured by reference to discounted future cash flows.
An impairment loss is charged to the income statement immediately, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount.
Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of previously recognised
revaluation surplus for the same asset. Should the impairment loss of an asset exceeds its revaluation surplus, the
surplus impairment loss is charged to the income statement.
Subsequent increase in the recoverable amount of an asset if carried at cost, is treated as a reversal of the
accumulated impairment loss previously recognised in the income statement but the reversal is limited to the
accumulated impairment loss previously recognised, and if carried at revalued amount, is credited directly to
revaluation surplus.

(k) Operating Fund
Operating Fund is the grant received from the Federal Government to finance IRDA's operating expenditures
requirements as the authority empowered to plan, promote, process, stimulate, facilitate and undertake the
development of Iskandar Malaysia.

(I)

Special Development Fund
Special Development Fund is managed on behalf of and funded by the Federal Government under Ninth Malaysian
Plan (RMKe-9) and Tenth Malaysian Plan (RMKe-10) for infrastructure development project, Creative Fund used for
Creative Industry Talent Development Programmes and National Talent Enhancement Programme (NTEP) Fund used
for Human Capital Development Programmes.
All receipts are credited and all payments are debited to the account. Unutilised amounts at the balance sheet date
are shown as balance of the above fund.

(m) Social Projects Fund
Social Projects Fund managed by the Authority is funded by third parties and utilised for certain purposes in
accordance with the provisions of Section 37 of Iskandar Regional Development Authority Act, 2007.
All receipts are credited and all payments are debited to the account. Unutilised amounts at the balance sheet date
are shown as balance of the above fund.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Facilitation Fund
Facilitation Fund is managed on behalf of and funded by the Federal Government through TERAJU to be used in
initiatives undertaken by qualified Bumiputera companies in accordance to the specified criteria.
All receipts are credited and all payments are debited to the account. Unutilised amounts at the balance sheet date
are shown as balance of the above fund.

(o) Johor International Youth Hub Fund
Johor International Youth Hub Fund managed by the Authority is funded by government and third parties will be used
for initiatives undertaken by the Youth Hub in accordance to the specified criteria for a future-ready and resilient youth
community.
All receipts are credited and all payments are debited to the account. Unutilised amounts at the balance sheet date
are shown as balance of the above fund.

(p) Entrepreneurship Fund
Entrepreneurship Fund is managed on behalf of and funded by the Federal Government through TERAJU to be used
for Micro Entrepreneur Bumiputera Development programme aimed for Bumiputera entrepreneurs in the state of
Johor in accordance to the specified criteria.
All receipts are credited and all payments are debited to the account. Unutilised amounts at the balance sheet date
are shown as balance of the above fund.

(q) Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in Malaysian Ringgit at rates of exchange ruling at the time of the
transactions.
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Ringgit Malaysia at the approximate rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date. Assets and liabilities not in foreign currencies are determined on fair value which
translated into Ringgit Malaysia at the approximate rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences arising from foreign currency are recognised in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Foreign Currency Transactions (continued)
The principal closing rates used in translation of foreign currency amounts at the balance sheet dates are as follow:

1 Singapore Dollar (SGD)
1 Euro (EUR)
1 United Kingdom Pound (GBP)
1 Japan Yen (JPY)
1 Qatar Riyal (QAR)
1 United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED)
1 United States Dollar (USD)
1 Australia Dollar (AUD)
100 Indonesian Rupiah (IDR)
100 South Korean Won (KRW)
1 Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY)
1 Danish Krone (DKK)
1 Swedish Krona (SEK)
1 Romanian New Lei (RON)
1 Hong Kong Dollar (HKD)
1 Indian Rupee (INR)
1 Russian Ruble (RUB)
1 Burmese Kyat (MMK)
100 Vietnamese Dong (VND)
1 Turkish Lira (TRY)
1 Kenyan Shilling (KES)
1 Thailand Baht (THB)
(r)

2015
RM

2014
RM

3.04
4.69
6.36
0.04
1.18
1.17
4.29
3.13
0.031
0.3651
0.66
0.63
0.51
1.03
0.55
0.065
0.059
0.003
0.0191
1.48
0.04
0.12

2.64
4.25
5.44
0.03
0.96
0.95
3.49
2.87
0.028
0.3201
0.56
0.57
0.45
0.94
0.45
0.055
0.059
0.003
–
–
–
–

Employee Benefits
Short Term Benefits
Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which the
associated sevices are rendered by employees of IRDA. Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid
annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future
compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when
the absences occur.
Defined Contribution Plan
IRDA is required by law to make monthly contributions to Employees Provident Fund ("EPF"), a statutory defined
contribution plan for all its eligible employees based on certain prescribed rates of the employees' salaries. IRDA
contributions to EPF are disclosed separately. The employee's contribution to EPF are included in salaries and wages.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s)

Cash Flow Statement
IRDA adopts the indirect method in the preparation of the cash flow statement. Cash equivalents comprise short-term,
highly liquid investments with maturities of less than three months from the date of acquisition and that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Motor
Vehicles
RM

Furniture and
Fittings, Office
Equipment and
Computer
Renovation
RM
RM

Total
RM

Cost
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposal/Write-off

1,043,167
–
(5,510)

3,433,304
81,425
(14,799)

5,130,723
219,979
(360,782)

9,607,194
301,404
(381,091)

At 31 December 2015

1,037,657

3,499,930

4,989,920

9,527,507

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposal/Write-off

634,314
213,675
(5,509)

3,136,189
167,167
(14,795)

4,226,410
328,168
(345,003)

7,996,913
709,010
(365,307)

At 31 December 2015

842,480

3,288,561

4,209,575

8,340,616

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2015

195,177

211,369

780,345

1,186,891

At 31 December 2014

408,853

297,115

904,313

1,610,281

Depreciation charge for 2014

207,165

183,753

349,650

740,568
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3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

IRDA

4.

Motor
Vehicles
RM

Furniture and
Fittings, Office
Equipment and
Computer
Renovation
RM
RM

Total
RM

Cost
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposal/Write-off

1,038,295
–
(5,510)

3,301,546
78,000
(14,799)

4,991,792
11,271
(360,782)

9,331,633
89,271
(381,091)

At 31 December 2015

1,032,785

3,364,747

4,642,281

9,039,813

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposal/Write-off

629,417
198,555
(5,509)

3,080,477
121,868
(14,795)

4,203,784
285,536
(345,003)

7,913,678
605,959
(365,307)

At 31 December 2015

822,463

3,187,550

4,144,317

8,154,330

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2015

210,322

177,197

497,964

885,483

At 31 December 2014

408,878

221,069

788,008

1,417,955

Depreciation charge for 2014

202,268

147,137

333,794

683,199

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
IRDA

Unquoted shares at cost
- Prisma Harta Sdn. Bhd.
- Film Johor Sdn. Bhd.
- My Iskandar Sdn. Bhd.
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2015
RM

2014
RM

1,000,000
1
2

1,000,000
1
–

1,000,003

1,000,001
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4.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Details of the subsidiary, all of which are incorporated in Malaysia are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Equity interest held
2015
2014
%
%

Principle activities

Prisma Harta Sdn. Bhd.

Manage the operation and maintenance of the Public
Housing for Iskandar Malaysia

100

100

Film Johor Sdn. Bhd. (*)

Attract international and domestic film productions to
Johor and promote Johor as the premier location for
international funded film production in Malaysia

50

50

My Iskandar Sdn. Bhd. (*)

Manage and monitor the operations of its subsidiary
and shareholding companies to stimulate the growth
and sustainability of IRDA and lskandar Malaysia

100

–

(*) The subsidiary company has not started operations and remained dormant since the date of incorporation.
Financial Statements of the subsidiary are not being audited by the Auditor General of Malaysia.

5.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE
GROUP
2015
RM

IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

As at 1 January
Unquoted shares at cost
Share of post acquisition results

–
–
–

62,146
–
(62,146)

I60,603
–
–

160,603
–
–

As at 31 December

–

–

160,603

160,603

IRDA's share of revenue, profit, assets and liabilities of an associate are as follows:
GROUP
2015
RM
Revenue
(Loss)/Net profit for the financial year
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

1,386,886
(118,141)

1,481,108
(7I,906)

29,766
878,659
(908,425)

26,243
634,319
(660,562)

–
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2014
RM

–
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5.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Details of the associate, which is incorporated in Malaysia are as follows:
Equity interest held
2015
2014
%
%

Name of associate

Principle activities

IMSEC Sdn. Bhd.

Provide safety and security services to Iskandar
Malaysia region

40

40

Financial Statements of the associate is not being audited by the Auditor General of Malaysia.

6.

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
GROUP
2015
RM
Operating Fund:
Trade receivables
Less: Provision for doubtful debts
Other receivables
Deposits
Prepayments

Special Development Fund:
Deposits

Social Projects Fund:
Interest receivables

Johor International Youth Hub Fund:
Interest receivables
Other receivables

Total
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IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

1,189,208
(240,168)

1,090,924
(288,772)

–
–

–
–

949,040
633,826
598,626
745,651

802,152
1,144,440
630,709
657,182

–
583,347
590,343
726,617

–
1,144,440
630,709
637,097

2,927,143

3,234,483

1,900,307

2,412,246

1,094,126

1,288,519

1,094,126

1,288,519

1,094,126

1,288,519

1,094,126

1,288,519

57,114

58,190

57,114

58,190

57,114

58,190

57,114

58,190

13,126
3,136

–
–

13,126
3,136

–
–

16,262

–

16,262

–

4,094,645

4,581,192

3,067,809

3,758,955
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7.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
GROUP
2015
RM
Operating Fund:
Cash in hand
Bank balances
Deposits with licensed bank

Special Development Fund:
Bank balances
Deposits with licensed bank

Social Projects Fund:
Bank balances
Deposits with licensed bank

Facilitation Fund:
Bank balances
Deposits with licensed bank

Johor International Youth Hub Fund:
Bank balances
Deposits with licensed bank

Entrepreneurship Fund:
Bank balances

Total
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IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

10,175
20,736,190
8,387,195

9,191
9,321,357
23,443,183

10,000
18,390,810
3,138,841

9,000
5,012,776
22,265,949

29,133,560

32,773,731

21,539,651

27,287,725

1,301,812
291,076,214

44,055,630
358,630,150

1,301,812
291,076,214

44,055,630
358,630,150

292,378,026

402,685,780

292,378,026

402,685,780

(434,455)
43,029,635

916,313
49,432,393

(434,455)
43,029,635

916,313
49,432,393

42,595,180

50,348,706

42,595,180

50,348,706

30,558,848
5,473,543

170,709
11,373,767

30,558,848
5,473,543

170,709
11,373,767

36,032,391

11,544,476

36,032,391

11,544,476

300,040
4,629,408

5,005,242
–

300,040
4,629,408

5,005,242
–

4,929,448

5,005,242

4,929,448

5,005,242

14,999,985

–

14,999,985

–

14,999,985

–

14,999,985

–

420,068,590

502,357,935

412,474,681

496,871,929
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8.

AMOUNT OWING FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE
The amounts due from/(to) subsidiary and associate are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed term of repayments.

9.

PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
GROUP
2015
RM
Operating Fund:
Trade payables
Other payables
Accruals
Deposits and Prepayments

Special Develoment Fund:
Other payables

Social Projects Fund:
Other payables

Facilitation Fund:
Other payables

Total

IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

745,557
1,336,686
473,409
1,621,243

286,540
1,584,652
947,275
1,534,717

–
1,213,729
370,263
–

–
1,446,748
885,364
–

4,176,895

4,353,184

1,583,992

2,332,112

82,995,625

180,810,368

82,995,625

180,810,368

82,995,625

180,810,368

82,995,625

180,810,368

110,254

–

110,254

–

110,254

–

110,254

–

500

–

500

–

500

–

500

–

87,283,274

185,163,552

84,690,371

183,142,480

Other payables comprise amounts outstanding for ongoing costs. The amounts owing are interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment.
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10. SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND
GROUP AND IRDA
2015
2014
RM
RM
As at 1 January
Development grant received from Government
Creative fund received from Government

223,324,532
112,600,000
–

275,258,712
70,230,000
468,000

Interest income

335,924,532
12,633,091

345,956,712
12,234,738

348,557,623
(116,960,412)
(564,292)
(1,295,791)
(19,100,000)
–

358,191,450
(130,996,379)
(45,893)
–
–
(3,824,646)

210,637,128

223,324,532

Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:
Less:

Utilisation of development grant
Utilisation of NTEP grant
Utilisation of creative grant
Development grant transferred to Operating Fund
Interest income transferred to Operating Fund

As at 31 December

11. SOCIAL PROJECTS FUND
GROUP AND IRDA
2015
2014
RM
RM
As at 1 January
Interest income

50,406,896
1,583,266

49,225,634
1,525,405

Less: Utilisation of Socials Project Fund

51,990,162
(9,456,121)

50,751,039
(344,143)

As at 31 December

42,534,041

50,406,896

The Social Projects ("SPF") Fund is established pursuant to Section 37 of IRDA Act 664 (Act 664) which shall be used to
finance social projects and schemes consistent with the strategies and initiatives as stated in the Comprehensive
Development Plan ("CDP"). The Fund is managed by the SPF Committee comprising of independent members in accordance
with the guidelines, policies and decisions made by IRDA, provided always the said guidelines, policies and decisions are
not in contravention of the Act and the CDP.
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12. FACILITATION FUND
GROUP AND IRDA
2015
2014
RM
RM
As at 1 January
Facilitation Fund received from Government

11,544,476
32,000,000

10,321,950
20,000,000

Interest income

43,544,476
557,836

30,321,950
337,890

Less: Utilisation of Facilitation Fund

44,102,312
(8,070,420)

30,659,840
(19,115,364)

As at 31 December

36,031,891

11,544,476

The establishment of Facilitation Fund is to be used for qualified Bumiputera companies under the TERAJU's Entry Point
Project (EPP) initiatives. The Fund is managed by the Facilitation Fund Review Committee (FFRC) comprising of independent
members and chaired by IRDA's Chief Executive. The FFRC Committee task is to review the application received from all
the companies applying for the fund and make recommendation for the qualified companies to the Teraju Delivery
Committee (TDC) for final approval.

13. JOHOR INTERNATIONAL YOUTH HUB FUND
GROUP AND IRDA
2015
2014
RM
RM
As at 1 January
Fund received from Khazanah Nasional Berhad

5,005,242
–

–
5,000,000

Interest income

5,005,242
154,727

5,000,000
5,242

Less: Utilisation of Youth Hub Fund

5,159,969
(208,405)

5,005,242
–

As at 31 December

4,951,564

5,005,242

Johor International Youth Hub Fund was established to undertake initiatives related to the implementation of Youth Hub
project. The project is a plan under the youth social development programme and will be a platform for the youths to
gather, exchange ideas and organise recreational activities among them. The Hub shall be managed by youth but in the
early stages, IRDA as a government agency will provide support and facilitate this initiative via public, private and
community participation. The hub also provides opportunities for entrepreneurship in creative and technology sectors and
encourages social enterprise.
The source of fund is from contributions made by strategic investors (e.g. Khazanah Nasional Berhad and landowners),
other sources such as sponsorship, donations, fund raising activities and also grants from the government. The Fund is
managed by the Iskandar Malaysia Youth Advisory Council ("IMYAC") comprising of government agencies and business
stakeholders and is lead by IRDA. The task of IMYAC is to review, provide direction and/or approve activities proposed by
the Youth Hub committee. Upon completion of the project, a special purpose vehicle namely "HAB Corporation" with a
sustainable business model, will be formed to manage and operate the Youth Hub.
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14. ENTREPRENEURSHIP FUND
GROUP AND IRDA
2015
2014
RM
RM
As at 1 January
Entrepreneurship Fund received from Government

–
15,000,000

–
–

Less: Utilisation of Entrepreneurship Fund

15,000,000
(15)

–
–

As at 31 December

14,999,985

–

The Entrepreneurship Fund was established for the purpose of Micro Entrepreneur Bumiputera Development programme
aimed for Bumiputera entrepreneurs in the state of Johor. It is to cater for the small and micro-businesses in order to
strengthen their specialised skills capacity, funds and infrastructure as well as increasing the Bumiputera participations in
business. The Fund is managed by the Project Steering Committee comprising of independent members and chaired by
IRDA's Chief Executive. The Project Steering Committee task is to act as the policy maker of the fund and as the final
implementation committee for all matters related to the programme and fund.

15. GOVERNMENT GRANTS
GROUP AND IRDA
2015
2014
RM
RM
Operating Fund:
Government grants received

44,935,500

49,671,000

44,935 ,500

49,671,000

Included in the Operating Fund Government grants for 2015 is RM19.1 million transfered from the Special Development
Fund (Development Expenditure Fund) as approved by the Ministry of Finance (MOF) in its letter dated 14 July 2015 under
reference KK/BPB(2.00)202/5-57 sk.5(13).
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16. REVENUE
GROUP
2015
RM
Operating Fund:
Rental income

2014
RM

6,227,423

5,884,291

6,227,423

5,884,291

17. OTHER INCOME
GROUP
2015
RM
Operating Fund:
Tender fees
Interest income
Other income
Management fees
Facilities rental
Administration fees
Vehicle sticker fees
Feed in tariff from solar TNB
(Loss)/Gain on fixed assets disposal
Transfer of assets
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IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

93,049
847,189
1,966,774
337,500
8,196
23,409
44,018
322,569
(15,048)
–

17,600
5,386,069
640,703
843,803
5,395
100,993
31,300
–
56,430
1

93,049
624,070
1,962,988
577,500
–
–
–
–
(15,048)
–

17,600
5,197,006
637,525
963,803
–
–
–
–
113,554
1

3,627,656

7,082,294

3,242,559

6,929,489
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18. OPERATING EXPENSES
GROUP
2015
RM
Operating Fund:
The details of operating expenses are as follows:
Professional fees
Auditors' remuneration
Board members' allowances
Allowances - AIC Members & Advisory Council
Allowances - IRDA Exco
Allowances - Tender Board A & B
Allowances - Incentives Committee
Allowances - Selection & Approval Committee
Allowances - Planning and Design Review Committee
Allowances - Social Development Committee
Allowances - Special Project Fund Committee
Assessment
Rental expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Donation
Sponsorship
Secretarial fees
Staff costs
- Salaries and allowances
- EPF
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IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

803,010
31,698
370,500
318,000
5,000
8,750
20,300
3,600
20,050
4,100
900
89,055
3,732,210
709,010
–
–
9,414

1,920,180
29,782
335,600
315,633
5,000
1,400
11,200
600
8,200
3,500
1,400
16,011
3,694,115
740,568
1,500
33,500
3,592

776,377
21,266
336,000
318,000
5,000
8,750
20,300
–
20,050
4,100
900
–
3,728,677
605,959
–
–
–

1,837,717
20,401
335,600
315,633
5,000
1,400
11,200
–
8,200
3,500
1,400
–
3,682,219
683,199
1,500
33,500
–

28,123,926
5,450,802

27,808,168
5,358,520

27,237,186
5,317,224

26,997,235
5,216,157
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18. OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)
GROUP
2015
RM
Operating Fund (continued):
Staff costs (continued)
- SOCSO
- Overtime
- Bonus
- Staff welfare
- Staff recruitment
Marketing and promotions
Entertainment
Training and seminar
Utilities charges
Website expenses
Upkeep of office equipment, premises and motor vehicles
Printing and stationeries
Meeting expenses
Medical charges
Insurance
Bank charges
Advertisement
General expenses
Security charges
Taxation fees
Licence fees
Membership and professional subscriptions
Postage and courier
Accommodation and travelling
Goods and services tax
Penalty
Allowance for doubtful debts
Bad debt written off
Discount allowed
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts

250,077
240,080
5,070,357
60,051
23,229
3,105,888
177,443
273,502
1,857,057
17,442
2,415,688
243,631
345,860
141,878
1,149,867
2,561
297,481
99,979
1,002,280
5,250
250,892
13,873
16,342
1,769,302
411,324
100
240,168
35,332
–
(288,772)
58,928,487
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IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

104,333
257,819
5,640,381
288,565
102,288
4,426,171
214,331
540,107
1,760,526
15,200
1,874,455
307,016
436,845
121,505
1,099,587
5,252
847,431
184,633
1,049,900
5,606
299,984
16,265
16,329
2,807,091
–
35,332
12,818
168,960
(181,778)

243,081
201,024
4,983,572
60,051
23,229
2,895,248
177,443
243,103
1,395,301
17,250
846,273
177,910
345,860
140,553
1,029,424
692
297,481
85,666
306,130
4,100
244,279
13,873
16,143
1,711,712
327,664
–
–
–
–
–

99,866
234,617
5,514,442
288,565
102,288
4,339,481
214,331
525,061
1,458,031
15,200
949,512
268,743
436,845
120,442
1,009,024
5,218
847,431
181,787
314,112
4,016
299,637
16,265
15,984
2,786,055
–
–
–
–
–
–

62,745,421

54,186,851

59,200,814
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19. SHARE OF EQUITY LOSSES OF AN ASSOCIATE
GROUP
2015
RM

2014
RM

As at 1 January
Share of equity losses of an associate

–
–

(98,457)
(62,146)

As at 31 December

–

(160,603)

Share of equity losses of an associate is restricted to the amount of the investment in the associate.

20. STAFF COSTS
GROUP
2015
RM
Operating Fund:
Staff costs

39,218,522

IRDA
2014
RM

2015
RM

2014
RM

39,560,074

38,065,367

38,453,170

Included in staff costs are Group's contributions to Employee Provident Fund of RM5,450,802 (2014: RM5,358,520).

21. INCOME TAX
IRDA has obtained tax exemption under Section 127(3A) of the Income Tax Act, 1967. All income except for dividend income
are exempted from tax for 10 years beginning from year assessments 2007 until 2016.

22. OPERATIONAL COMMITMENTS
GROUP AND IRDA
2015
2014
RM
RM
Approved and contracted:
Marketing and promotions
Consultancy and blueprint studies
General expenses
Shareholding advances
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140,387
238,699
4,679,855
3,500,000

601,341
278,025
419,601
–

8,558,941

1,298,967
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23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a)

IRDA has been served with a Notice of Arbitration by SJIC Bina Sdn Bhd, appointed contractor to carry out the design,
construction, equipping, testing and commissioning of the following projects:i)
Projek Lebuhraya Pesisir Pantai dari Johor Bahru ke Nusajaya (Pakej 1); and
ii) Projek Menaiktaraf Jalan Skudai dan Jalan Abu Bakar (Pakej 2).
The contractor has alleged that during the course of the works, there were some adjustments in respect of various
Pelarasan Harga Kontrak ("PHK") amounting to a total shortfall of RM130,529,610.45 to the original contract sum. The
court's decision are still not ascertained since the arbitration process is still ongoing.

(b)

IRDA has received a high court civil suit from "orang asli" Kampung Sungai Tenom related to the development of the
area in which IRDA be the first defendant in this case. However, no financial implications to IRDA that can be
estimated as the case is still ongoing. The court has fixed 21 April 2016 for parties to file in their respective
submission in reply and to orally submit on the salient issue before the court in the said date.
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www.iskandarmalaysia.com.my
Main Office

Iskandar Regional Development Authority (IRDA)
#G-01, Block 8, Danga Bay, Jalan Skudai,
80200 Johor Bahru, Malaysia
Tel: +607 233 3000 • Fax: +607 233 3001
Satellite Office

Level 12-1, Mercu UEM, Jalan Stesen Sentral 5,
Kuala Lumpur Sentral,
50470 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
Tel: +603 2260 6777 • Fax: +603 2260 7999
Email: enquiries@irda.com.my
Iskandar Service Center: 1800 88 3010
iskandarmalaysiaofficial
iskandarmalaysia
iskandarmsia

